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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
By FE =

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31H I FZ
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Revenue decreased from approximately HK$585.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$530.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$54.5 million or 9.3%.

Gross profit decreased from approximately HK$41.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$2.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$39.7 million.

The Group recorded a loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$53.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: a profit and total comprehensive income of
approximately HK$19.1 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK5.3 cents for the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: basic earnings per share of approximately HK1.9 cents).

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a
final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).
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Dear Shareholders,

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GC
Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present
the consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2024.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing Date"”) by
way of share offer (the “Share Offer”) (the “Listing”). The Group is a
wet trades contractor in Hong Kong and construction subcontractor
in Cambodia. The wet trades works performed by the Group mainly
included plastering, tile laying, brick laying, floor screeding and
marble works.

As Hong Kong's property market continued to face weak demand
and declining sentiment for the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group, as a wet trades contractor, encountered growing operational
and financial pressures. First, to remain competitive and sustain
project pipelines, the Group was compelled to tender contracts at
low gross profit margins. Developers and main contractors, seeking
to control costs amid market uncertainty, aggressively pushed down
prices. Consequently, the Group accepted contracts with minimal
profitability merely to secure work and keep operations running,
severely impacting overall earnings and weakening performance.
Second, due to cash flow constraints caused by slow property
sales, many developers delayed payments to main contractors, who
in turn tightened payment schedules for subcontractors. This led
to prolonged payment cycles for the Group. Third, as developers
struggled to sell completed units, numerous construction projects
were delayed. These delays resulted in higher overhead and
labor costs for subcontractors, contributing to cost overruns and
operational inefficiencies for the Group.

Revenue decreased from approximately HK585.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK530.7 million for the
year ended 31 March 2025, a decrease of HK$54.5 million or 9.3%.
This drop was driven by a reduced number of construction projects,
as many developers postponed or scaled back new developments
amid the property market slowdown, limiting opportunities for
subcontractors. In response, the Group intensified cost control
measures and pursued new business opportunities outside Hong
Kong. Notably, it secured a construction project in Cambodia during
the year ended 31 March 2025, applying its expertise and standards
while collaborating with Cambodian developers and contractors.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ES

Given the deteriorating economic outlook and worsening credit
profiles of customers, the Group recognized a significant expected
credit loss provision, reflecting heightened bad debt risks from
developers and main contractors potentially unable to settle
outstanding balances. This provision further strained the Group's
profitability, compounding the effects of slim margins and payment
delays.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 32 projects (2024: 61 projects)
on hand with backlog value of approximately HK$343.3 million
(2024: approximately HK$564.8 million).

PROSPECTS

Over the past year, Hong Kong's sluggish real estate market has
reduced demand for new residential and commercial developments,
increasing risks for construction projects—particularly for
subcontractors like wet trade works companies, which often operate
on tight margins and rely on timely payments. To navigate this
uncertainty, the Group is strategically shifting away from high-risk
projects, focusing instead on those with more stable payment
terms. It is prioritizing partnerships with trusted developers and
main contractors with strong payment track records while avoiding
large-scale developments prone to delays or cancellations due to
financing issues.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
management of the Group and all the staff for their hard work and
dedication, as well as its shareholders, business associates and other
professional parties for their support throughout the period.

Chan Kiu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue decreased from approximately HK$585.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$530.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$54.5 million or 9.3%. The decrease in revenue
was mainly driven by the decrease in the number of projects awarded
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Cost of Services

The cost of services mainly comprised subcontracting fees, cost of
materials and toolings and direct labour costs.

The cost of services decreased from approximately HK$543.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$528.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$14.8 million or 2.7%. The decrease in cost
of services was caused by the decrease in the number of projects
awarded during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately HK$41.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$2.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$39.7 million. The decrease in gross profit was
primarily attributable to the volatility of the real estate market. The
instability in property prices has adversely affected (i) the deteriorated
gross profit margin of the new awarded wet trade works; (ii) the delay
of work progress and unexpected changes in request of the work
by the customers incurred additional construction cost; and (iii) the
tight budget affected the certified amount of work done from the
customers.

The gross profit margin was approximately 0.4% and 7.2% for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Other Income and Gain

During the year ended 31 March 2025, other income and gain
represented wage subsidy granted under Youth Employment and
Training Programme, gain on disposal of plant and equipment and
sundry income.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, other income represented
wage subsidy granted under Youth Employment and Training
Programme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mES T

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs,
entertainment expenses, depreciation, motor vehicles expenses,
insurance and legal and professional expenses.

The administrative expenses increased from approximately HK$20.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$22.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing an increase
of approximately HK$1.8 million or 8.6%. Such increase was mainly
due to the increase in staff costs and entertainment expenses.

Impairment Losses on Trade Receivables and
Contract Assets

The Group recorded impairment losses on trade receivables and
contract assets of approximately HK$33.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2025 and approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2024. Such increase was caused by the higher default risks.
The customers were facing financial stress, leading to the increasing
risk of the delayed or non-payments.

Finance Income, net

The net finance income decreased from approximately HK$2.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$0.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025. Such decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in interest income from short-term bank deposits.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense decreased from approximately HK$3.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$0.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2025 as there is a decrease in
assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2025.

(Loss)/Profit and Total Comprehensive (Expense)/
Income for the Year

The Group recorded the profit and total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2024, and it turned to the loss and total comprehensive expense of
approximately HK$53.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2025.
Such change was mainly driven by the decrease in gross profit and
increase in impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets
as mentioned above.

ITHBX

THRAXTEBRETRA BB - TE
BEWANX RBRAREEREEFNX -

THAXHEE2024F3 8318 IEFEH#120.7
AEETIENERT2025F3 4310 IEFENLD
25EBEL  EIENAE1SEEBTHS.6% °
ZEEFE RN B TARCAR MENEEF S8 TR -

ESRUREREGNEEZRERSE

AEBREE2025F3A31H I FEHREEHE
WHEREHEEZ RERELY33.6885 T -
M& £2024F3A31H L FEREEH06ES
BT ZENTERENRR EAFE - BF
T B8 B R 7 38 BT IR ok B R A5 70 2 B B 144
hne

B A F R
B A FRE B R 202453 A31 B IEEERL
22AEEAB LRV EEHE2025F3A31B IEFE
WH06AEBIL - AP EEZAREHRITE
FBU AR D o

8B

Fri8 Bk maE 2202438310 IEFEEHL
37EEAB LRV EFHE2025F3A31MBIEFE
KI#028 88T BREZ2202543A318 1
FEMNERBF AT

FR(ER) BARE2EEX) K
NEENEE2024F3A318 L FEHEHEFK
2HEWALTEL1918 BB MEIE202593
A31BIEFEREAEENL2EMAS 254535
AEBIT ZEHETEAN EREFRD AR
BHREWFBRENEERBEREIELMATE -

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group needs to maintain a solid liquidity for working capital to
support the Group’s business operations. The principal sources of
liquidity are equity capital, cash generated from operations and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2025, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with net current assets balance of approximately
HK$269.8 million (2024: approximately HK$321.7 million),
comprising cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$18.8
million (2024: approximately HK$31.9 million) and short-term bank
deposit of nil (2024: HK$50 million), respectively. The cash and cash
equivalents were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
10 October 2022. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Company since then. As at 31 March 2025, the capital
structure of the Company comprised mainly issued share capital and
reserves.

Bank Borrowings

The bank borrowings was approximately HK$8.8 million as at 31
March 2025 and nil as at 31 Match 2024. Such bank borrowings
were dominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear interest at floating
rates.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio was calculated as total borrowings (i.e. bank
borrowings) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting
dates. The gearing ratio was approximately 3.2% as at 31 March
2025. The gearing ratio was nil as at 31 March 2024 as there was no
outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024.

Net Debt to Equity Ratio

Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as net debts (i.e. bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity
as at the respective reporting dates.

The net debt to equity ratio was not applicable as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 as the Group had net cash position as at both dates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mES T

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Capital Expenditures
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred capital

expenditures of approximately HK$0.3 million (2024: approximately
HK$3.4 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND
COMMITMENTS

The Directors confirm that as at the date of this announcement,
the Group did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or
commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any pledge of assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of
the business transactions and assets and liabilities of the Group are
principally denominated in Hong Kong Dollar. As such, the Directors
consider the Group's risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and no
foreign exchange hedging was conducted by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

BB R
AEBHHEHRBRER T RENMBEL)
E e BEFETIERAKRENRBES NN -
NHERASEEE BERHEMAENRDE
TRBIERHEERERR -

BEAZH
HE2025F3A31HILFE  REBEAL03
BEBTHEANTE (20245  #93.4FEHTT) o

HREE

MN2025%F K2024F3A31H @ A~ & F I & (F {7
BEASAREE-
EEEERNZTHREE

E=HR RAXEAH  AEEYBEMFE
ERERINLBESRE

o

EEEKH
7202593 A31H @ NEEIWEEREEET o

HEAT BEATRSESEY
BEARRE  WHRLE

HZE2025F3A318LFE  AEBTENBA
A BEARIRAECENTMNEAKRE K
B HE -

SME [ B
HRAEERBOERRIUAREERAEE
BB TCRHE - AN K E G A 9NE R AR
Hit EERAAEBIINERKKTRE -
MAREZE2025F3 8318 ILFE  REBIWEE
FTHNPE b o

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount due from
immediate holding company, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, other payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings.
The management manages such exposure to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 55 employees (2024: 89
employees) who were directly employed by the Group and based
in Hong Kong. The Group offers remuneration package to the
employees which includes salary and bonuses. Generally, the Group
considers employees’ salaries based on each of their qualifications,
position and seniority. The Group has an annual review system
to appraise the performance of the employees, which constitutes
the grounds of the decision as to the salary raises, bonuses and
promotions. The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the
Board upon the recommendation from the remuneration committee
of the Company having regard to the Group'’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period up to the date of this announcement.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2022.

The amount of gross proceeds from the Share Offer is HK$125
million and the amount of net proceeds from the Share Offer
is approximately HK$91.8 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and the expenses relating to the Share Offer (the “Net
Proceeds”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERES T

The Net Proceeds will be used in the manner consistent with that as
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
of the Company’s prospectus dated 23 September 2022 (the
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IAZAMBHER (AR ERD [ RHKE K
PR1SFEME | — B EE — 2 8

“Prospectus”), details of which are as outlined below: HEEBESmT
Utilised
amount Unutilised
since the amount of  Expected
Intended Listing Date Net Proceeds  timeline for
use of and up to asat the use of
Net Proceeds 31 March 2025 31March 2025  Net Proceeds
BEHAH 720255
FiEMA F2025% 3A31BFE  BRKE
FEN 3 A31HE MEFREN  REFEN
Purposes Bt RER®% EEEER ABRALE FEHRBEX
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEAT BEATL
Financing the up-front costs of the  AZA&£E 18 B (1 4 67.0 67.0 - NATER
Group's projects RAREES
Expanding the Group’s manpower $&FAEE A /1 KA 9.9 9.9 - NATER
and leasing an additional office ~ EENBAE
Purchasing machinery and motor ~ FEE# 2 L =5 2.7 2.7 - NATEAR
vehicles
Procuring an enterprise resources B EEFaHE 19 - 1.9  March 2026
planning (“ERP") system ([EEERTE]) 202643 7
(Note) (i)
Purchasing planks and toe-boards & 8 R4k J2 J& 1R A 1.4 1.4 - NANER
to further strengthen the E—SmeAEE
Group's occupational safety MEEL s
The Group's general working AEER—KREE 8.9 8.9 - NAMER
capital B¢
Total @5t 91.8 89.9 19
Note: The use of procuring an enterprise resources planning system was ~ Mfi7E : HRARRBEEZHEHECEERTER

further delayed as the Company needed more time to conduct search
on ERP system and negotiate with the service providers of ERP system.

As at the date of this results announcement, there was no further
change for the intended use of Net Proceeds as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

FUETTER R B X E IR B R 5 IRE R 1
7 EHRBEEE RIS RGN ERE—
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus, as at the date of this announcement,
the Group did not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

2024/25 S5} « GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, aged 67, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum also serves as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group. He is
the chairperson of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for the
overall management, formulation of business strategies, project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited (“Wai Wai Prestige”),
Ying Ying Company Limited (“Ying Ying"), Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited (“Chan Kiu”) and Ying Wai (Chan
Kiu) Construction Engineering Co., Limited (“Ying Wai"). He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Wing Ping and the father of Ms. Chan
Chui Ying.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has over 30 years of experience in the wet trades
works industry. From June 1988 to December 1997, he worked as
a foreman at a wet trades works contractor with his last position
as manager. He was the sole proprietor of Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering from February 1998 to February 2013. Since
July 2005 and October 2007, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been a director
of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu, respectively.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum completed the special training course for Hong
Kong and Macao committee members held by the Business School of
Nankai University in the PRC in April 2018. He was a vice president of
the Hong Kong Construction Sub-Contractors Association from July
2015 to June 2017. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been appointed as the
president and the honorary president of The Association of Plastering
Sub-Contractors Limited from May 2015 to October 2022 and
since November 2022, respectively. Since October 2020, Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has become the founding executive vice president of the
Registered Specialist Trade Contractors Federation. Since January
2023, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has become the president of the Shenzhen
Baoan Shajing Natives Association (HK).

Mr. Chan Wing Ping, aged 64, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. He is primarily responsible for the overall project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige, Ying Ying, Chan Kiu and Ying Wai. He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and an uncle of Ms. Chan Chui
Ying.

HITESE
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ERAR (TBRAE]) KA R (BR1E) 2K TE
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Wing Ping has over 20 years of experience in the wet trades
works industry. From January 1996 to December 1997, he worked
as a foreman at a wet trades works contractor. He then worked at
Chan Kiu Construction Decoration Engineering as a foreman from
February 1998 to February 2013. Mr. Chan Wing Ping has been a
director of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu since July 2005 and October 2007,
respectively.

Mr. Chan Wing Ping completed the safety supervisor course offered
by the Industrial Centre of the School of Professional Education and
Executive Development of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
January 2001. He has been appointed as a council member of The
Association of Plastering Sub-Contractors Limited since May 2015.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying, aged 29, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 5 February 2024 and was the corporate
promotion, administration and human resources manager of the
Group since February 2018 and has been responsible for the sales
and marketing and administration of the Group. Ms. Chan Chui Ying
is the daughter of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and a niece of Mr. Chan Wing
Ping.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying has over 5 years of experience in sales and
marketing. Ms. Chan Chui Ying was an account executive of Ginger
Advertising Limited from September 2015 to June 2016. She worked
at Meitu (China) Limited as a marketing and public relations executive
from June 2016 to February 2018.

Ms. Chan Chui Ying graduated from Pierce College in Washington,
the United States, with an associate’s degree of arts in June 2013.
She then obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in communication
from the University of Washington in the United States in June
2015. In October 2019, Ms. Chan Chui Ying completed the online
credential of readiness program in business analytics, economics for
managers and financial accounting organised by Harvard Business
School. Ms. Chan Chui Ying completed (a) a 43-hour programme of
construction safety supervisors in August 2022; and (b) a 52-hour
course in construction specialist trades management and a 21-hour
course in project management training series for sub-contractors
in November 2021, both organised by the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREHERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Huang Hong, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 13 September 2022. She is the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Huang has over 15 years of experience in corporate finance
and corporate governance. From January 2003 to March 2004,
she worked at the representative office of Stevenson, Wong & Co.
in Guangzhou as China business consultant. From April 2004 to
November 2005, she practised at Drew & Napier LLC in Singapore as
a registered foreign lawyer. Dr. Huang was a visiting lecturer and a
lecturer at the School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University from January 2006 to May 2007 and from May
2007 to June 2015, respectively. From October 2018 to November
2021, Dr. Huang was the senior manager of the commercial and
corporate finance department of Stevenson, Wong & Co.. Since
January 2020, she has been a part-time visiting lecturer at the School
of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Since December 2021, Dr. Huang has been a compliance director
under the group of Metalpha Technology Holding Limited. Since
January 2022, Dr. Huang has been a part-time compliance director of
SW Management Limited.

Dr. Huang graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in the PRC with
a bachelor’s degree of laws in June 2000. She further obtained a
master’s degree of laws from the University of Liverpool in the United
Kingdom in December 2002 and a master’s degree of corporate
finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009.
In October 2019, Dr. Huang obtained a doctor’s degree of philosophy
from the School of Law of the City University of Hong Kong. Dr.
Huang is qualified as a PRC lawyer in April 2001.

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is the chairperson
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Yu has over 15 years of experience in advisory, accounting,
taxation and auditing. Mr. Yu joined RSM Nelson Wheeler as staff
accountant in June 2005 and left as manager in June 2014. From
June 2014 to May 2015, he worked at Niche-Tech (Hong Kong)
Limited (which is a subsidiary of Niche-Tech Group Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8490))
as chief accountant with his last position as financial controller.
Since June 2015, Mr. Yu has been the financial controller of Tactful
Building Company Limited. Mr. Yu founded Yu Chi Wing CPA
(Practising) and JR & Co., Certified Public Accountants in March 2015
and September 2016, respectively. He also co-founded Emerald
Capital CPA & Co. in May 2021.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu has been an independent non-executive director of (i)
Fameglow Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8603) since September 2018; (ii) Wah Wo
Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 9938) since December 2019; and (iii)
WellCell Holdings Co., Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2477) from December 2023 to
September 2024.

Mr. Yu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in June 2005. He has been
a member and a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2012 and March 2015,
respectively.

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu, aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Lo has over 10 years of work experience. He joined Wealth
Property Agency Limited as an account executive in December 2007
and is currently its managing director. He was an assistant instructor
from September 2012 to August 2013, a part-time instructor from
September 2013 to January 2014 and from February 2017 to June
2017, and a part-time college lecturer from February 2018 to June
2018, from February 2019 to June 2019, from February 2020 to
August 2020, and from January 2021 to June 2021, at the Lingnan
Institute of Further Education, Lingnan University. He was also a guest
lecturer of The Education University of Hong Kong from January
2017 to June 2017. Dr. Lo was an honorary assistant professor in the
School of Arts and Social Sciences of The Open University of Hong
Kong (currently known as the Hong Kong Metropolitan University)
from August 2019 to August 2022.

Dr. Lo was an independent non-executive director of Wang Yang
Holdings Limited (currently known as Central Holding Group Co.
Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1735) from March 2018 to October 2019. He has been
an independent non-executive director of Yield Go Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1796) since December 2018.

Dr. Lo graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in physical education and recreation
management in November 2007. He further obtained a master’s
degree of science in international banking and finance and a master’s
degree of philosophy in economics from Lingnan University in
October 2009 and October 2011, respectively. In November 2019,
Dr. Lo obtained a doctor’s degree of philosophy in physical education
from the Hong Kong Baptist University.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREHERE

Dr. Luk Che Chung, /,, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director with effect from 5 February 2024, is among
the first batch of medical graduates from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1986. He holds a master’s degree of public
administration from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Luk is also
the Member of Faculty of Public Health since 2016. He has been
a healthcare executive in the public sector since 1990 with a wide
range of exposure and track record in managing complex and
large healthcare systems, crisis management, human resources
management, corporate governance, corporate communications
and media management, quality and risk management and business
development. He has solid experiences of working with senior
professionals, media and regulatory bodies, government officials,
politicians and people on all fronts, both inside and outside the
healthcare sector. During his 10 years of services at the Hospital
Authority Head Office, Dr. Luk was responsible for the annual
planning of overall operations, service and facilities planning,
development of specialist clinical services, liaison with the social
sector and community, hospital operations and quality management.
Dr. Luk is currently the vice-chairman of Virtus Medical Group
Limited. Since 1999, Dr. Luk worked as a hospital chief executive,
managing various public hospitals at different times, the main ones
being Kwong Wah Hospital, United Christian Hospital and Queen
Mary Hospital. Since 2005, he also served as the cluster chief
executive of Kowloon East Cluster for 4 years and then Hong Kong
West Cluster for 9 years. Dr. Luk was appointed as the cluster chief
executive of Hong Kong East Cluster and the hospital chief executive
of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital, Wong Chuk Hang
Hospital and St. John Hospital in October 2018. He was responsible
for the management of 9,000 staff with a recurrent budget of over
HK$8 billion, and the operation of seven hospitals and 12 general
outpatient clinics providing acute and comprehensive medical
services to a population of 0.8 million. In November 2021, Dr. Luk
retired from the Hospital Authority. He worked as the deputy chief
executive officer for Your Health Specialists Medical Group Limited
from November 2021 to September 2022. Since March 2024, Dr. Luk
has been appointed as the director of CUHK Medical Centre. Since
in September 2023, Dr. Luk has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of ECI Technology Holdings Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8013).
Since October 2024, Dr. Luk has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited, a
Company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8347).
Over the years, Dr. Luk has been involved in various community work,
including the Medical Council, The Community Chest of Hong Kong,
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service, other various community
and non-governmental organisations, and teaching in some tertiary
institutions. In recent years, Dr. Luk has been directly involved in the
Community Housing Movement and the Modular Housing Initiative.
Dr. Luk was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong
SAR Government in 2019, and received the Distinguished Medical
Alumni Award from the Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 2020.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Wai Hung, aged 38, is the project manager of the Group
and is responsible for overseeing and managing project execution and
operation of the Group.

Mr. Lai has over 10 years of experience in the wet trades works
industry. He joined the Group as a part-time site worker in June 2006
and was promoted as site foreman in July 2012. Mr. Lai has further
been promoted as project manager in November 2020.

Mr. Lai completed his secondary education in June 2003. He further
completed the two-year full time basic craft course in bricklaying,
plastering and tiling held by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in August 2005. He then completed the safety supervisor
training course and the 3-day metal scaffolding supervisor course
organised by the Hong Kong Human Resources Ltd. in October 2007
and December 2007, respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERHRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
During the year ended 31 March 2025, save as disclosed below, the
Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG
Code and, where applicable, the recommended best practices of the
CG Code.

According to the code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
has appointed Mr. Chan Kiu Sum as both the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Considering that Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has been operating and managing the Group since 2005,
the Board believes that vesting the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer in Mr. Chan Kiu Sum would enable the Group to
achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness when
formulating business strategies and executing business plans. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently
maintained by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors (including
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum) and four independent non-executive Directors
and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The Board will nevertheless review the structure and composition of
the Board from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in
order to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices
of the Company.

CULTURE AND CORPORATE STRATEGY

The corporate value of the Company is acting in lawful, ethical and
responsible manner. The Group is dedicated to deliver quality and
attentive wet trade works to its customers and put the health and
safety of its employees and workers as top priority.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the required standard
for securities transactions by Directors. All Directors, after specific
enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies of the Group, the nomination and appointment of
Directors, and to ensure the availability of resources as well as the
effectiveness of its system of internal control. The senior management
was delegated the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the
day-to-day management and operations of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also established Board committees and has delegated
to these Board committees various duties and responsibilities as set
out in their terms of reference respectively. Each Director shall ensure
that he/she carries out his/her duty in good faith in compliance with
the standard of applicable laws and regulations, and acts in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including three Executive Directors and four Independent
non-executive Directors. Details of the Board composition by category
are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping
Ms. Chan Chui Ying

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Huang Hong

Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu

Dr. Luk Che Chung, /p

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly and at least four times
a year, and the Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written
notice of such meetings in compliance with paragraphs C.5.1 and
C. 5.3 of part 2 of the CG Code. The company secretary of the
Company assists the chairman to prepare the meeting notice and
agenda. Each Director may include any item in the agenda. The
agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with sufficient and reliable
information, are sent to each Director at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to enable the directors to make
informed decisions on the matters to be discussed, except where a
Board meeting or committee meeting is convened on a very urgent
basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter. The company secretary is
responsible for taking and keeping minutes of all Board meetings and
committee meetings. Additional Board meetings will be convened,
as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any Director
who is not able to attend physically may participate at any Board
meeting through means of a telephone or tele-conferencing or any
other telecommunications facility, in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, one general meeting was
convened and five Board meetings were held and the attendance of
each Director is set out below:

EEREAHRE

HZE2025F3A31HEFE - ARAREARA—KX
RASUNRAHANEEEZSH MSES
ZHEBREFNWT

Board Meeting
Attended/Held

General Meeting
Attended/Held

HE BHESE HEBRERRE
SEAH REERARE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum BRI& AR 4 5/5 171
Mr. Chan Wing Ping B oK 5 A 5/5 171
Ms. Chan Chui Ying FRE2 2/ NE 5/5 11
Independent non-executive Directors BI FEHTESE
Dr. Huang Hong =i E L 5/5 11
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEE&LE 5/5 11
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EHSEL 5/5 171
Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp BEEIREE A - xFm+ 5/5 11

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Director has entered into a service agreement
for a term of three years with the Company which renewed and
extended automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless
otherwise terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior written notice. Each of the Independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter for
a term of one year with the Company which renewed and extended
automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless otherwise
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one
month'’s prior written notice. In accordance with Article 108 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and re-election. Each Director shall retire from office
at least once every three years. In accordance with Article 112 of the
Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the following general meeting (in the case of filling a
causal vacancy) or the next following annual general meeting (in the
case of an additional Director) and shall then be eligible for election.
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Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The following
mechanisms are adopted by the Board to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board, and these mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1. The Board must have at least three Independent non-Executive
Directors and must appoint Independent non-Executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. Onan annual basis, all Independent non-Executive Directors are
required to confirm in writing their compliance of independence
requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules, and to disclose the
number and nature of offices held by them in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

4. The chairman of the Board meets with Independent
non-Executive Directors annually without the presence of the
Executive Directors.

The Board considered that the above mechanisms were effective
during the year under review.

The Company has received from each of the Independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considered that the Independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the Listing Rules. Upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, the Board considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines
set out in the said Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant and in compliance with paragraph C.1.4
of part 2 of the CG Code, the Company would arrange and fund
suitable continuous professional development for the Directors to
participate in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The training each Director received during the year ended 31 March
2025 is summarised as below:

EEREAHRE

EEREEXRER

AEREEREYHESSELANBREANE
B BT EEARTUE A HFECIAR > K
REEAEELTHLMABNFEZEEEY
REES  UEREEMEMBIE - R
F2025F3A31HIEFE - SEFMEZ ST
B -

Reading

Attending newspapers,
seminars/in journals and other
house workshops relevant materials

relevant to the regarding
Group’s business, regulatory update
Listing Rules, and corporate
regulatory and governance
statutory updates matters
SMEBEEEHX

B mHRA B HMERREERHN
EREERHER BRARECEXERS
HHNE, ENHE YR
REP RS HuEmA

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRIGAR 4

Mr. Chan Wing Ping BR oK T 5 A

Ms. Chan Chui Ying PRERZ /N
Independent non-executive Directors B IEHITESE

Dr. Huang Hong =ITH+

Mr. Yu Chi Wing TEEEE

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EHsEL

Dr. Luk Che Chung, BELIREE & - xF@s
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v v
v v
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BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach of which the Board could
achieve a higher degree of diversity. The Company recognises the
benefits of having a diversified Board. In summary, the Diversity Policy
sets out that when considering the nomination and appointment of
a director, with the assistance of the Nomination Committee, the
Board would consider a number of factors, including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge, professional experience and qualifications,
cultural and educational background, age, gender and diversity of
perspectives that the candidate is expected to bring to the Board
and what would be the candidate’s potential contributions, in
order to better serves the needs and development of the Company.
The Diversity Policy also seeks to attract, retain and motivate the
Directors and other staff from the widest pool of available talent.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Diversity Policy and
discussed the above measurable objectives and agreed that these
measurable objectives were achieved for the diversity of the Board
which contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company. The Board will take opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members over time when
selecting and making recommendation on suitable candidates for
board appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best practices,
with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors
who have direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with
different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group's strategy.

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board, which included
two female members. Due to the industry nature of the business as
wet trades works contractor and the prevailing gender dominance
in the industry, the Board currently comprises five male Directors
(71.4%) and two female Directors (28.6%), whereas the senior
management comprises one male member. The Group target to
maintain the percentage of female directors in the Board no less than
28% in the next three years. The Company values gender diversity,
including but not limited to (i) continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company and to develop a pipeline
of potential successors, including but without limitation at the Board;
and (i) consider the possibility of nominating female management
staff who has necessary skills and experience to the Board.
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The Group strictly adheres to fair and appropriate employment
practices and labour standards. With an anti-discriminatory and
equal-opportunity policy in place, the Group provides job applicant
and employees with equal opportunities of employment and
promotion, and prohibits all forms of discrimination on gender,
religion, race, disability or age. Due to the industry nature of the
business as wet trades works contractor and the prevailing gender
dominance in the industry, as at 31 March 2025, 8 out of 55
employees (including senior management) of the Group are female,
representing approximately 14.5%. The Group target to maintain the
percentage of female employees in the Group’s workforce of no less
than 15% in the next three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with terms of reference to assist them in the efficient
implementation of their functions.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of part 2 of the CG Code pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 13 September 2022. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are, among others, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
external auditor, review the financial statements and material advice
in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial reporting
process, internal control, risk management systems and audit process
of the Company and perform other duties and responsibilities
assigned by the Board.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing, Dr.
Huang Hong, Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp, all being
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Yu Chi Wing is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a
year. Details of the authority and duties of Audit Committee are set
out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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T AEREZESRNEE2025F3A31HIEFE
FRENfT TVEREE -

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025:

reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial information for the six months ended 30 September
2024 and the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024, the interim report for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 and annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2024, the related accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the report from the
management on the Company’s review of the risk management
and internal control systems, and recommendation of the
appointment and re-appointment of the external auditor;

reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems;

reviewed the nature and scope of the non-audit services
provided or to be provided by external auditor and assessed the
respective implication on the auditor’s independence; and

reviewed the report communicated by the external auditor for
matters including the planned scope and timing of the audit and
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significant audit findings.

EEgHEERZE S ZMEMEEINBZEET T
S EEAERDE -

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the appointment of external auditor.

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE BEREEERITT
MAxgs SLZEeWEZHERsnT

During the year ended 31 March 2025, four Audit Committee
meetings were held and the attendance of each committee member
is set out below:

Number of
Attendance
HERE

Independent non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Dr. Huang Hong =i+ 4/4
Mr. Yu Chi Wing TEREE 4/4
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EHSIEL 4/4
Dr. Luk Che Chung, PeLIRBE & - xFas 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 of part 2 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration. At present,
the Remuneration Committee comprises Dr. Huang Hong, Mr. Yu
Chi Wing and Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp, being the independent
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive
Director. Dr. Huang Hong is the chairperson of the Remuneration
Committee.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least
once a year. Details of the authority and duties of Remuneration
Committee are set out in the Remuneration Committee’s terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025:

—  reviewed the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management; and

—  made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
individual Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each committee
member is set out below:
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Number of
Attendance
R
Executive Director BITES

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum BRIE FR LA 11

Independent non-executive Directors BAUKHTES
Dr. Huang Hong FAHLT 11
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 11
Dr. Luk Che Chung, PeLIREE & - xFat 1”7
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Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the member of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band during the year ended 31 March 2025
is set out below:

BECEEATEE O FEEI15ER  HE
2025F3A31HIEFESREREKE (T2
BE)IRMENHFMEES W

Number of
person(s)

A

HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

Remuneration Policy of the Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Group’s remuneration policy of the Directors is built
upon the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration package that support the performance culture and
enable the achievement of strategic business goals. The Group's
remuneration policy of Directors is, therefore, aiming at providing
competitive but not excessive remuneration package to the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee
and variable components (such as bonus and share options), which
is benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale
with reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market
condition, the Company’s performance and the qualifications, skills,
experience and educational background of the Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision B.3.1 of part 2 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are, among others, to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and select or make
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. At present, the Nomination Committee comprises
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive Director, Dr. Huang Hong,
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp, being the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once
a year. Details of the authority and duties of Nomination Committee
are set out in the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025:

—  reviewed the board diversity policy; and

—  reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, one Nomination Committee
meeting was held and the attendance of each committee member is
set out below:

TERERHSE

T RREZEENEE2
FTENiT TIEHEE -

0254%3A31HILEE

- HHNEFEXBEZTLHE: K

- RABUFRTEFTZBEIUML -

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE » RBREEEHRIT T
—REE Ré,\aiizfaz&mafﬂ

Number of
Attendance
HERE
Executive Director HITESE

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum BRIEFR LA 11

Independent non-executive Directors BIYFBITES
Dr. Huang Hong =i+ 11
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EEIEL 71
Dr. Luk Che Chung, PR A - xTmt 1”7

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the approach and procedures the Board
adopts for the nomination and selection of Directors, including
the appointment of additional Directors, replacement of Directors,
and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee has
been delegated with the overall responsibility for implementation,
monitoring and periodic review of the policy, and the summary of
which is set out below:

Nomination Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship, the
following criteria would be considered by the Nomination Committee
and the Board:

—  the candidate’s character and integrity;

— the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;
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— any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the ~— —
Board;

—  for independent non-executive Directors, whether the candidate ~— —
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

— any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board — —
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

— willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate time ~— —
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

—  such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’'s  —
business and succession plan and where applicable may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

MEZNEZTGREZTTEMEANER A

sHERE

MBI TESEMS - £2E LHRA
P8BSR REAZDTEWER
BIAL

IRIEATEAE - B8 - A5 BT R
BI% TEAL %77 EAE 2 B 2 & 25 SR A0
HER

REARTRERAENRACHEREE
TARRIEEER HEESZEEKE
MBS ¢ Ko

DAERRARERBG MEEE L (WER) A
Bl YAREEESHREEF M
EEH &I 5 TR RA & HETHEME
AK -

Nomination Procedures EBEEF
The Company has put in place the following director nomination ARG D HIFTA TEEREZETF ¢
procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors EANEERERESE

i. If the Board determines that an additional or replacement .
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable Director candidates, including referral from
Directors, shareholders, management, advisors of the Company
and external executive search firms.

i. Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential ii.
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates
for consideration by the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board based on the selection criteria and such other factors that
it considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority on
determining suitable Director candidate for appointment.
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Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

i.  Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring Director
will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

i.  Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting
must lodge with the company secretary of the Company within
the lodgement period specified in the relevant shareholder
circular (a) a written nomination of the candidate, (b) written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of his willingness
to stand for election, and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The policies of Anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy are
contained in the section headed “Anti-corruption” on page 99 in this
annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing and has performed in
compliance with the corporate governance duties as set out in the
CG Code which includes develop and review the Group's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board; review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management;
review and monitor the Group'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and directors; and review the Group’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report contained in this annual report. There
are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt of the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable for the year ended 31 March
2025 to the Company’s external auditor, OOP CPA & Co., is set out
as follows:

EERMBRRARKENERE

EXARAERRABARSHRAGHEEM
FERRAREFEFERNOTHERE - XA
AR E M BRI AAZEETNERE
RAFRABLZBERSE - HBETAEBSE
5N E AR T BARAE 5= Ty Al 88 AR X B #F
BIRERENBRERRE

= E AT £

REZE2025F3A318H IEFE » RARQ R)IMNERZ
HEMBRARBR S MBS REMAHESE
AR

HK$'000
Services rendered to the Group 0 7 £ (B 42 1 09 AR 75 FHET
Audit services FEET IR 980
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls and risk management of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal control and risk
management systems to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
the Group's assets. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group through
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in the
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through
the Audit Committee are kept informed of significant risks that may
impact on the Group'’s performance.

The Audit Committee has received the risk management and internal
control evaluation reports prepared by the external internal control
review consultant. The reports summarised information relating to
the work carried out in the following areas:

1. the results of selective testing of internal control procedures,
operation, and the financial records of the Company;

2. a general evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems installed by the Company; and

3. anoutline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the year
under review.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports and discussed
with the management of the Company. The Audit Committee
acknowledged that the management of the Company has been
progressively implementing adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to ensure the effective
functioning of the Company’s operations. The Board is therefore
of the view that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are effective and adequate. The review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group would be
done on an annual basis. Although, the Group does not have an
internal audit function having considered the complexity of the
Group's operation, the Board considers that the review on the risk
management and internal control systems by the Audit Committee
and the Board on a regular basis as well as engaging external internal
control review consultant to review the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems would be sufficient to ensure
the effective operation of the Group. The Audit Committee and the
Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function
on an annual basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo was appointed as the Company Secretary with effect
from 12 June 2023. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo has over 15 years of experience
in the related fields of finance, auditing, accounting, corporate
governance practices and company secretarial matters, and possesses
the requisite qualification and experience as required under Rule 3.28
of the Listing Rules. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo obtained a bachelor degree of
commerce (accounting and finance) and a master degree of applied
finance from Monash University of Australia in December 2005 and
December 2006, respectively. He is a member of the Certified Public
Accountants Australia and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo has confirmed that he has undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2025 in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") of the
Company are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the Articles
of Association of the Company:

1. One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings may,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of
the Company require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. The EGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within
21 days of such deposit of requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Raising Enquires

1. Shareholders should direct their enquires about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong by post to 2103B, 21st Floor, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

2. Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestion to the
Directors and management of the Company and can be
addressed to the Company by post to Unit 909, 9th Floor,
Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

3. Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together
with their detailed contact information for the prompt response
from the Company if it deems appropriate.
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Procedures and Contact Details for Putting Forward RRRASLEZEBZNEFREKE
Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings #

1. To put forward proposals at the general meeting of the 1.
Company, a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/
her/its proposal (“Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact
information at the Company’s principal place of business at Unit
909, 9th Floor, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung
Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company.

2. The identity of the shareholder and his/her/its request will be 2.
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong and upon confirmation by the branch share registrar that
the request is proper and in order and made by a shareholder,
the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the general
meeting.

3.  The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for 3.
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at the annual general meeting or an EGM varies
according to the nature of the Proposal as follows: (i) At least
21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in an EGM or if the Proposal is put
forward at an annual general meeting of the Company; or (ii)

At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company at an EGM.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

BEMANARBERRAE LIREESE
EREHEEZERRAN((BRE)) =
FHEFABEERIEREARBIEEEE
e Hat BB B NERDEESIIFED
EEIS1HI0E009E - WA AT ES S
;A FIME WA

BERE 0 REBRGHARR BB E

F 7 EizeE —%Wﬁx{ B D RHER LR
KIBBEREAZEFL  EFEHEH
EHREMABRRAGHE -

%m%%%ikAikﬁ%ﬂﬁAt%ﬁ
EHEBREMEHEZEMS @ KRERSE
WAHEﬁMm%%kﬁﬁmmLﬂ%ﬁ
§M’ (MinEEEEXBREFINARE LA
72%%& RN WERBREREARQR
k%ﬂikA'wﬁzdmaiﬁLﬂ'
%mhk%%%ﬁh%%mﬁAi$
ZEBAEE  AAELI4EEARA ﬂo



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
its shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings, issuing to its shareholders corporate
communications such as interim results and annual results, financial
reports, announcements and circulars in accordance with the Listing
Rules. Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company through
channels of the Company’s corporate website www.chankiu.hk and
provide comments and recommendations to the Directors. Upon
receipt of enquiries from shareholders, the Company will respond as
soon as practicable.

Please refer to the website of dissemination of corporate
communications and the request form for printed copies of the
annual reports, interim reports and circulars. Shareholders are
encouraged to provide their up-to-date contact details (including
electronic contact details) to the branch share registrar of the
Company in order to facilitate timely and effective communications.

The annual general meeting provides a platform for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board
as well as the chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer
questions at shareholders’ meeting.

The Company considers that it establishes effective communication
channels with its shareholders through its website and the annual
general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no change to the
constitutional documents of the Company.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated with limited liability in Cayman
Islands on 28 April 2020.

Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme (the “Reorganisation”) to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the Listing,
the Company became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 17 November 2020.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus. The Shares
were listed on the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing
Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
its operating subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of wet
trades works in Hong Kong and construction works in Cambodia.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
120.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue contributed by
the largest and the top five customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 13.2% (2024: approximately 19.4%) and
approximately 53.3% (2024: approximately 72.2%) of the Group's
total revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s cost of
services from the largest and the top five suppliers accounted for
approximately 5.0% (2024: approximately 6.4%) and approximately
21.9% (2024: approximately 18.5%) of the Group’s total cost of
services, respectively.
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To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
under Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the
section headed “Connected and Related Party Transactions” in this
report, none of the Directors, their respective close associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company), had any interest in any of the Group's top five customers
or suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group has maintained good relationships with its major
customers. The Group values the relationships with its customers as
it believes that maintaining good relationships with them is crucial
to the success of the business. The long-term working relationship
can help the Group to understand the demands of its customers in a
timely manner and also increase its visibility in the wet trades works
industry in Hong Kong. The Directors consider that maintaining
good relationships with its customers would increase the chance of
being invited to tender or quote for the forthcoming projects, which
is conducive to securing a steady stream of projects for the Group.
The Group strives to monitor manpower, machinery and material
distribution in all projects in response to the customers’ demands.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

The Group has established stable business relationships with its
suppliers and subcontractors which is essential to the smooth
operation of the Group’s business, as the Directors consider that
timely delivery of materials and provision of labour assistance can
enable the Group to meet the schedules of its customers. The Group
has also maintained a list of approved suppliers and subcontractors
which is periodically reviewed and updated based on the internal
assessment of their performance, to ensure that all works performed
by the suppliers and subcontractors satisfy the requirements of the
relevant contract.
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Employees

The Group maintains a cooperative and good relationship with its
management and employees in providing competitive remuneration,
staff welfare and benefits. In general, the Group reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of its employees on a
periodical basis by reference to, among other things, the market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of its employees and the performance of the
employees and the Group.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position are
set out in the section headed” Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report. This discussion forms an integral part of this
report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The future development of the Group’s business is set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects” of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, as far as the Directors are
aware, the Company did not have any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that is material or systemic in nature.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a contractor specialising in wet trades works, the Group values
environmental sustainability and has been striving to integrate the
concept into every part of the daily business operations. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental, social and
governance strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for
the Group’s ESG risk management and internal control systems to
ensure that the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met.
Discussion on the Group's environmental policies and performances
are in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately HK$81.1 million (2024: approximately HK$82.2
million) calculated in accordance with the Companies Law (as revised)
of the Cayman Islands.

DONATIONS

Donation of amount approximately HK$64,000 (2024: approximately
HK$0.2 million) was made by the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which aims to set out
the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits, as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company. The Board adopted
the dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends,
the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Board has the discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to
the provisions of the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the factors of the Group
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends such
as operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, capital expenditure, future development requirements,
business conditions and strategies, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends, and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
or period as interim dividend, final dividend, special dividend, and
any distribution of profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The executive Directors believe that there are certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations. Some of the material risks
include:

(i) most of the revenue during the year ended 31 March 2025
was derived from projects awarded by a limited number
of customers and any significant decrease in the number
of projects with the major customers may materially and
adversely affect the financial performance;

(ii) the revenue is mainly derived from projects which are
non-recurrent in nature and there is no guarantee that the
customers will provide the Group with new businesses;

(iii) unsatisfactory performance by the subcontractors or
unavailability of subcontractors may adversely affect the
operation and profitability; and

(iv) any material inaccurate cost estimation or cost overruns may
adversely affect the financial results.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme (as defined below) the Company
did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the year ended
31 March 2025 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 March
2025.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping
Ms. Chan Chui Ying

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Huang Hong

Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu

Dr. Luk Che Chung, //

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Chan Wing Ping, Dr. Huang Hong and Dr. Luk
Che Chung, Jp will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors required
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Upon the recommendation of the
nomination committee of the Company, the Board considered all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent. Biographical
information of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Biography of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be renewed and
extended automatically by three years on the expiry of such initial
term and on the expiry of every successive period of three years
thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at least
three months’ written notice of non-renewal before the expiry of the
then existing term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one
year commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be
renewed and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of
such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of one
year thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at
least one month’s written notice of non-renewal before the expiry of
the then existing term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has any service agreement or appointment letter
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or
any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or
trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own fraud or dishonesty.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme") pursuant to the written resolutions of the
then sole Shareholder passed on 13 September 2022.

No awards or options had been granted, agreed to be granted,
exercised, cancelled, forfeited or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or any entity
in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest
(the “Invested Entity”). As at 31 March 2025, there was no
“Invested Entity” other than members of the Group, and the
Group had not identified any potential “Invested Entity” for
investment.

Who may join

The Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme to make an offer to any of the following classes:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
the Directors (including any independent non-executive
Director)) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries (within
the meaning of the Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an “eligible employee”);

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity;

(iv) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of the Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and
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(c)
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(vii) any other group or class of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for
the grant of an option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any option by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the
Group to any person who falls within any of the above classes
of eligible participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors
otherwise determine, be construed as a grant of option under
the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Directors
from time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to
such eligible participant’s contribution to the development and
growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Company shall not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue
from time to time.

(i) The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company) to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares (assuming the Over-allotment
Option and the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme are not exercised) in issue at the time dealings in
the Shares first commence on the Stock Exchange, being
100,000,000 Shares (the “General Scheme Limit").
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(iii)  Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iv) below, the Company may seek
approval of the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue (assuming the Over-allotment Option and the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme are not exercised)
as at the date of the approval of the limit and for the
purpose of calculating the limit, options (including options
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company will not be counted.

(iv) Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iii) above, the Company may seek
separate Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting to
grant options under the Share Option Scheme beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) above to eligible
participants identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to paragraph (e) below, the total number of Shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of any
option which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a grantee under the Share Option Scheme would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of our Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting.
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(e) Option period

()

(9)
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The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no
share option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Vesting period

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option
for any minimum period nor achieve any performance targets
before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Grant of options to core connected persons

(i)

(ii)

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (ii) below, the making
of an offer under the Share Option Scheme to any Director,
chief executive of the Company or Substantial Shareholder
or any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
an option under the Share Option Scheme).

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (i) above, where any
grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
Substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options under the Share Option Scheme already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares on the offer date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting. The grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting.

(e)
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(h)

(i)

()

For the purpose of seeking the approval from the Shareholders
under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above, our Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders containing the information
required under the Listing Rules and where the Listing Rules shall
so require, the vote at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to
obtain the requisite approval shall be taken on a poll with those
persons required under the Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

Payment on acceptance of the option

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 7 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 per option as the consideration of the grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a business day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to a Participant;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

Remaining life

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which
period no further options shall be granted. All options granted
and accepted and remaining unexercised immediately prior
to the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme. Since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, no option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme. Therefore, no option was exercised or cancelled or has
lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2025 and there was no
outstanding option as at 31 March 2025.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group joins mandatory provident fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

No forfeited contributions (by the Group on behalf of employees
who leave the defined contribution plans prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) can be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$0.9 million (2024: approximately
HK$1.2 million) during the year ended 31 March 2025. Save as the
aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension schemes
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCooper resigned as auditor of the Company and
OOP CPA & Co. has been appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 10 February 2025. There have been no other changes in auditor
during the preceding three years.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity
of a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at 31 March 2025 or at any time during the year ended 31
March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares

EERBEITRAEBERAEALQT
REMBBEZENKRD - HERKD
FERERBFEENEZRKE

M2025F3H31H  EFRANAREITHRAE
RARB AR LR (F& RFEHRHAEGRD
EXVED) Bl - B GD MERZEFEERIE
FHNEERAIEXVEBETRESH EEKE M
GARR MR AR AR (BREBEER
REREGOIE B B 1SR 1EHE B R i
MxRE) - JRIEFES R E RN EIS2HEEE
RRZIEMEEMNELMANER RAR - iR
BAIRAEST RIZB A S A A 5] KB 32 P B 4 s R0k
BT

(a) ARG HEFR

Number of Shares Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest interested interest
BEERERN

EEpE B HatE KRGOEE EENESL

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation/ 728,880,000 72.9%
interest held jointly with others

BRI& AR A (P EET) REGEE R BEMA T HR
RANER

Mr. Chan Wing Ping (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation/ 728,880,000 72.9%
interest held jointly with others

BRoKF o A (PR EET) ZEGEE R BE M AT HE
RANES

Dr. Luk Che Chung, /r (Note 2) Independent non-executive Director 670,000 0.067%

ESREAL  crmr (HEE2) BIUFRITES
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(b)

Notes:

1. Evolve Billion Limited is beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum and 20% by Mr. Chan Wing Ping. On 5 November 2020,
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan Wing Ping entered into an acting
in concert confirmation to acknowledge and confirm, among
other things, that they are parties acting in concert within the
meaning of the Code on Takeovers and Mergers. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan Wing Ping are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Evolve Billion Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2025, Dr. Luk Che Chung, J/r was interested in
670,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately
0.067% of the total issued shares of the Company, which was less
than 1% of the total issued shares of the Company as referred to
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Long position in the shares of associated
corporations
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(b) RAEBEERD TR

Number of
Name of associated Capacity/Nature of Shares held Percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest interested interest
BEREZRN
EEns HEEE AR B HERtE FERONBE RIENEIL
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 80 80%
BRAE AR A4 ERERBERAQF BEnB A
Mr. Chan Wing Ping Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 20 20%
BRoK 5 A EREBERAQF En#AA
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the B XA EE SN - 202593 A31H

Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in register referred to therein, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

TERRRAQAARMD - HE
ROKREEENEERKXA

7202593 A31H » THATRARGRD KE
R A B IRIEES M EEF EXVELE

2R FE3D WA AR R M E

SIIA= =Y A N/N

AIRBEES N ERIIE6RFEZECMZ

EZmBOABR T ¢

RIRB2FR

Number of Shares

Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest held interested interest
RERZNER

BREREE MR B HEnHrE g 4= ERNEI L

Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 728,880,000 72.9%

EEBERAT E=lA A

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum Interest in controlled corporation/ 728,880,000 72.9%
interest held jointly with others

FRIB AR LA RS BE M A T HF
AR ER

Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching (Note 1) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu 728,880,000 72.9%
Sum

B a4 (k1) PRIBAR ST EB 2 m

Mr. Chan Wing Ping Interest in controlled corporation/ 728,880,000 72.9%
interest held jointly with others

R ok 58 A THEE LD HEMA T ER
%ﬁm%

Ms. Chan Pong Hing (Note 2) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Wing 728,880,000 72.9%

PR W Ar + (FFE2)

Notes:

1. Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is the spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum. Under the 1.

Ping
RACFRERBZER

i

SFO, Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is deemed to be interested in the same

number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is interested.

2. Ms. Chan Pong Hing is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Ping. Under 2.

the SFO, Ms. Chan Pong Hing is deemed to be interested in the same

number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Ping is interested.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person in the full-time employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any body
corporate.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, Mr. Chan Wing Ping and Evolve Billion Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) had entered into
the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 18
September 2022 (the “Non-competition Undertaking”). Each of
the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that he/it had complied
with the Non-competition Undertaking during the year ended 31
March 2025. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
that state of compliance of each of the Controlling Shareholders with
the Non-competition Undertaking and as far as the independent
non-executive Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of
the undertakings given in the Non-competition Undertaking by the
Controlling Shareholders during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Directors further confirmed that none of the Directors and
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group's business the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance connected to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its subsidiaries, or its holding company or
any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director
or a connected entity of a Director had a direct or indirect material
interest, subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

As of 31 March 2025, save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of
significance had been entered into between the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group had not entered
into any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2025 which is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed under Note
26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there was no other
related party transaction during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and
the code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of part 2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make
recommendations to Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems
and audit process of the Company and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing, Dr. Huang Hong,
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu and Dr. Luk Che Chung, s, all being independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Yu Chi Wing is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and confirmed that they were prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards and the Listing
Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

PUBLICATION OF ANNUAL RESULTS AND
ANNUAL REPORT

The annual results announcement and the annual report are
published on the Company’s website at www.chankiu.hk and the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. The annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 will be published
on the websites of both the Stock Exchange and the Company in due
course in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting (2025 AGM") of the
Company will be held on 26 August 2025 and the notice and
circular of the 2025 AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be entitled to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 21 August 2025 to Tuesday,
26 August 2025, both dates inclusive, the period during which no
transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM, all completed share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 20 August 2025.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
management of the Group and all the staff for their hard work and
dedication, as well as its shareholders, business associates and other
professional parties for their support throughout the period.

On behalf of the Board
Chan Kiu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR MESSAGE

GC Construction Holdings Limited is deeply devoted to ensuring
that our company operates in a sustainable and responsible manner,
and we place great importance on environmental, social, and
governance (“ESG") considerations for ensuring our long-term
prosperity. We firmly believe that by integrating ESG factors into
our decision-making processes, we can generate value for all our
stakeholders, including shareholders, customers, employees, and the
communities in which we operate.

In recognition of climate change as one of the most pressing
challenges facing our planet today, we have set high targets, both
short-term and long-term, to reduce our greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions and are actively working towards transitioning to a
low-carbon economy. We vow to seize every opportunity to reduce
emissions across our entire value chain, as we remain committed to
addressing this issue.

Our commitment to ESG issues stems from our recognition of our
responsibilities to evaluate and determine ESG-related risks for the
Group, as well as to ensure the establishment of effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems. We acknowledge the
importance of diversity, equity, and inclusion in our workplace and
in society, and are committed to fostering an inclusive and respectful
culture that values the unique perspectives and contributions of all.

We regard ethical business practices as essential to our long-term
success and uphold the highest standards of integrity and
accountability in all our operations. We operate in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations and have established a
comprehensive set of code of conduct that promotes transparency
and accountability in all our business practices.

While we take pride in the progress we have made, we recognise
that there is still much work to be done. We remain committed to
continuous improvement and to ensuring that our ESG performance
meets the highest standards, so that the Group may continue to lead
the industry as a responsible corporate citizen. We will continue to
collaborate with our stakeholders on ESG issues and to work together
to create a more sustainable and responsible future for all.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with
its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, “we" or
“us”) are delighted to share our third Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) that outlines our achievements
and advancements in significant ESG aspects. In compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code (the “ESG
Code") as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), this report encompasses
a broad spectrum of topics, such as our initiatives towards mitigating
carbon emissions, our pledge towards fostering diversity and
inclusivity, and our strategy for maintaining ethical business practices.

Reporting Period

This report outlines the ESG performance and approach of GC
Construction Holdings Limited during the period spanning from
1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period” or
“2024/2025").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report reveals the relevant policies and efforts concerning the
Group's core and significant operations, which are wet trades works
including plastering, tile laying, brick laying, floor screeding and
marble works in both public sector projects and private sector projects
in Hong Kong.

The Report presents the environmental and social key performance
indicators (“KPIs") for the Group. The Group strives to enhance
its internal data collection process to continuously provide a
comprehensive overview of our performance. Unless explicitly stated,
the environmental, social, and governance data in this report pertains
to GC Construction Holdings Limited and its primary subsidiaries.
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Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is constructed based on the guidelines outlined in the
ESG Code as well as the four reporting principles — materiality,
guantitative, balance and consistency:

Materiality: The Group identifies significant ESG matters through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessments.

Quantitative: The Group discloses information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and calculation tools utilised, as well as
the source of conversion factors employed for reporting emissions/
energy consumption (where relevant).

Balance: The Report identifies both achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

Consistency: The Report uses consistent methodologies for
meaningful comparisons unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The Report has fulfilled all “comply or explain” requirements and
mandatory disclosures outlined in the ESG Code.

The contents of this report are derived from internal documents and
statistics of the Group, as well as the management and operational
information provided by its subsidiaries, in accordance with the
Group's internal management systems. A comprehensive index of the
report’s contents is included in the final section for easy reference.
The report is available in both Chinese and English on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.chankiu.hk). If there is any conflict or inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version will take
precedence.

Review and Approval

The Board accepts its obligation to ensure the ESG Report’s precision
and thoroughness, and to the best of their understanding, the ESG
Report has tackled all significant material concerns and has presented
a just portrayal of the Group’s ESG performance for 2024/2025. The
Report underwent examination and endorsement by the board of
directors (the "Board”) on 17 July 2025.

Feedback

If you have any feedback or recommendations regarding the ESG
Report, please do not hesitate to contact the Group at info@chankiu.hk.

RIg - HERERHSE

WEEERFA
RE|ETYRBERE AL E REG T AR
SIARMARE R —(EB24]  [81] [
BRI mE

EEM  AREEBRNESENEREN A
BRBEANRE HEREAFEE-

B REBRBBEELR  FE RREFAE
M E T ERBNER  UARBREHKE
BLRFE A SR FT BB R W SR (HaRs) o

T AREBR T AEEEERA A ADE

— M RIERBETERANE - TRIARRSE
MR- EETERRNLR

AHESFETRE L@ REETRIBA AT
BITETHEEIREL R EERL -

K%&iﬁﬁﬁq%?ﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁfﬁmjﬁéfi?
SRHENNEB M LG ER - AREWHBR
RENEEREEER - ARExE—[E ﬁﬁﬁ
T HBENDEBENGERS  HEES
2E o ANHRE K SR AN B 22 AT A I (www.
hkexnews.hk) & 7K 22 &) 48 ufi(www.chankiu.hk) 7]
HER - NP R XA BB EMEERIA—
W2 AR B »

=4t

EXgREABREERREE g kE/WmE

Eﬁ% EEREEE - BRESAMEM  BE
RERMECEEMBEERNEEZ@IE

I’RJ—_EiﬂZT i T ANEEE R 2024/20255F BRI

HERERRIA - AREN2025F7H17HEE

=g ([BEEg)EH-

REER
i FTEARE HEEAREHTAREES

RetEEes *EIZ}EH B E mfo@chanklu.hk
ERACES BB A o

2024/25 %R « GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

63



64

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIg - HEREGHRS

COMPANY PROFILE

Established in 2005, GC Construction Holdings Limited has been
providing exceptional wet trades works as a subcontractor, through
our two principal operating subsidiaries, Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited and Ying Wai (Chan Kiu)
Construction Engineering Company Limited. The wet trades works
undertaken by us typically involve various trades of works, details of
which are set out as follows:

—  Plastering works which generally refer to applying plaster evenly
on the surfaces of floors, walls and ceilings manually or with the
use of our plaster spray machine.

—  Tile laying works which generally refer to cutting and laying tiles
on the surface of floors and walls.

—  Brick laying works which generally refer to laying brick blocks in
uniform layers.

—  Floor screeding works which generally refer to applying a
well-blended mixture of cement with graded aggregates and
water to a floor base.

—  Marble works which generally refer to cutting and laying marble
tiles on the surfaces of floors, window sills and walls.

Our unwavering commitment to excellence in execution has earned
us a high ranking in the Hong Kong wet trades works subcontracting
market. Our primary engagements were in the private sector,
encompassing private residential and commercial developments, with
property developers as the project owners and main contractors as
our customers. Our forte in the sector has resulted in us being the
preferred choice of Government departments and statutory bodies
for public sector projects, covering public residential developments,
infrastructure, and public facilities developments.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is dedicated in its commitment to upholding the
Group’s environmental and social obligations while overseeing the
Group’s sustainability strategy and reporting. The Board shoulders
the responsibility of evaluating and determining the Group's
climate-related risks and opportunities, ensuring the establishment of
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control
systems through providing practical recommendations.
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For the day-to-day implementation, the Board places great importance
on facilitating the adoption of ESG strategies and policies throughout
the organisation. The Board and senior management also perform
regular meetings to discuss the implementation of ESG initiatives and
corresponding performance to keep abreast of all developments.

As part of its oversight role, the Board conducts regular reviews
of the Group’s ESG performance, examining and approving the
Group's annual ESG report, which serves as proof of the Group's
strong commitment to ESG issues. The Board’s commitment to
ESG issues reflects its firm belief in the importance of corporate
social responsibility and its unwavering commitment to creating a
sustainable and responsible future.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continual engagement and transparent communication with key
stakeholder groups are integral to crafting a business strategy
that aligns with their needs and expectations, thereby enhancing
the ability to identify risks and fostering strong and collaborative
relationships. The Group regards stakeholder opinions as the bedrock
for sustainable development and success, recognising that their
priorities and perceptions enable us to make informed decisions and
manage material ESG considerations. To facilitate effective stakeholder
engagement, the Group communicates with its stakeholders via
various channels, including but not limited to the following:

Stakeholder Key Expectations
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Communication Channel

BHE TEHE BERE
Government and e Compliance with national laws and e Regular announcements and other public
regulators regulations information
e Promote local employment e Examinations and inspections
e Timely payment of taxes
e Ensure production safety
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Shareholders and e Profits e  General meetings
investors e Compliant operation e Financial reports, ESG reports,
e Increase company value announcements and other public
e Transparency in information and effective information
communication e Email, telephone communication
e Company website
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Stakeholder

Key Expectations

Communication Channel

i E TEHRE BBERE
Suppliers/ e Operate with integrity e Review and appraisal meetings

Sub-contractors/
Business partners

HERs, Hes,/
R

Customers

P

Environment

B g
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non-governmental

Organisations (NGOs) e

At [ S IR BT A A

Media
e

Industry
7%

Employees

7l
il

Fair competition

Performance of contracts

Mutual benefit and win-win outcomes
MR E

NEFEF

B4

B R

Health and safety

Timely performance of contracts
Operate with integrity

[ EEes

RS ELY

SRS

Energy saving and emission reduction

ETRERIHE

Improve community environment
Participation in charity
Transparent information
HEHRIRIR

BEEAEL

AERE

Transparency and accuracy in information

BERE KRN

Promote industry growth and
advancement

RETRERNMES

Occupational health and safety
Remunerations and benefits
Career development

Social welfare
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. Business communications

o EERMAEE
o XA

. Customer service center and hotlines
e Customer communication meetings
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e  Reporting

e Investigations and inspections
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e  Participation in community events
o ESG Reports
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e Enquiry mailbox

o  EHREAE
e Participate in industry forums
o  ZHITERID

e Employee communication meetings
e Training and workshop

e Employee activity

e  Surveys
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts internal and external materiality assessments to
identify relevant issues for disclosure in the Report. By considering
the impact and influence of stakeholders, alongside the available
resources for the Group, the management pinpointed and invited
key stakeholders to participate in a survey that seeks their input and
recommendations on ESG-related issues pertaining to the Group's
operations.

The materiality assessment conducted during the Reporting Period
yielded a refined set of 10 material topics, derived from a list of 21
potentially relevant issues. The Group has constructed a materiality
matrix as depicted below. The materiality matrix highlights issues of
significance from the perspective of stakeholders and the Group’s
businesses with the issues falling within the quadrant in top-right
holding greater significance. Based on the materiality assessment
outcomes, we have identified the following sustainability issues as the
most pertinent:

The Group will continue to improve its reporting process when
there are relevant updates on methodologies of processing data and
disclosures in future.
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Materiality Matrix
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Materiality to Group's Development
HASEERMNEB2M
1 Management efficiency, 8 Discharge of pollutants 15 Product and service quality
operational results and corporate S5 A HERR management
value EmlkiREEEREE
ERMm - BEFENCEEE
2 Anti-corruption and risk 9  Waste disposal and composite 16 Rights, interests and satisfaction
management utilization of customer
REGMERERE BEEYRE Riza N A BN - R LmEE
3 Safeguarding the rights and 10 Response to climate change and 17 Supply chain management
interests of shareholders and low-carbon development HpEEEIE
investors FEET SRR B KA R
IRIERER RIRE E MR R i
4 Deepening reform and 11 Compensation and benefits of 18 Facilitation of fair competition
high-quality development employees {RENFHF
RERERSEEER B B 5B NMAE R
5 Environmental governance and 12 Development and training of 19 Production safety
compliance employees EELZE
BRIRERNER EE#ENIE
6  Energy and resources 13 Occupational health of 20 Drive for employment
management employees {REME
RN ERETE EEBREE
7  Environmental technology and 14 Rights and interests of employees 21 Community investment and
clean energy and care for employees engagement
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environmental Management

The Group strives to incorporate a culture of environmental
responsibility and sustainable practices into our operations. To
achieve this, the Group’s subsidiaries have adopted environmental
management systems which are in conformity with the requirements
of ISO 14001:2015 standards.

The Group’s environmental management system encompasses
a range of measures and protocols to guarantee adherence
to environmental protection regulations. Our employees and
subcontractors are obligated to adhere to these procedures. The
environmental management system we have in place is extensive,
covering every aspect of our operations, from raw material
procurement to waste disposal. For instance, our environmental
management system may include measures such as waste reduction,
energy conservation, and pollution prevention, while work
procedures may include guidelines on the proper handling and
disposal of hazardous materials, minimising emissions from vehicles
and equipment, and conserving resources like water and energy.

Our primary objective in implementing these measures and
procedures is to limit our environmental impact and ensure that we
operate in a sustainable manner. Compliance with these protocols
is mandatory for all employees and subcontractors, and we regularly
monitor and audit our activities to ensure that we are achieving our
environmental goals.

Emissions Target and Objectives
Short-term

The environmental targets below are set for the existing projects:

Our objective is to adhere to all legislation pertaining to air quality,
noise, water quality, and waste management, ensuring 100%
compliance. Additionally, we aim to prevent any breach of the limits
for air, noise, and water, and to avoid receiving any complaints
during the contract period. To accomplish these goals, we will ensure
that all waste is sorted with the concept of reusing and recycling.
By implementing these measures, we strive to promote responsible
waste management and minimise environmental impact.
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Long-term

Our objectives are to enhance compliance with legislation related to
air quality, noise, water quality, and waste management. We aim
to achieve this by controlling the noise generated by our operations
and minimising waste generation during the construction phase.
Additionally, we seek to minimise the amount of waste that is sent to
disposal grounds.

The Group has established emission reduction targets to ensure a
sustainable future. These targets have been set in comparison to
the 2022/2023 baseline year, and we aim to attain the following
objectives by 2027/2028:

—  Decrease air emission by 3%.
—  Decrease energy consumption by 3%.
—  Decrease water consumption by 3%.

—  Decrease waste disposal by 3%.

Emissions

The Group is bound by specific environmental regulations under
Hong Kong laws, including the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400), Water Pollution Control
Ordinance ("WPCO") (Cap. 358), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and
other relevant environmental ordinances and regulations.

The Group ensures its compliance with relevant laws and regulations
through measures described in the following sections.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

As a wet trades works contractor, the main source of air pollutant
emissions for our operations are mainly generated from our forklifts
and motor vehicles. Our executive Directors believe that the emissions
generated by our forklifts are relatively minor, nevertheless our
Group is still committed to reduce air pollutant emissions as much
as possible. The table below sets forth a breakdown of air pollutants
generated from motor vehicles owned by the Group:

RIg - HERERHSE

ERTRY B

ER—RRKIRAERE BRMAXBEEEL
MZERSRAMFRNETERREEZRERER
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ZERISRYAA

2024/2025 2023/2024

2024/2025% 2023/20244F

kg kg

Air Pollutant Emissions ERITRYBERKR F= F5
Total Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) BRELMEE 3.05 5.00
Total Sulphur Oxides (SO,) metmeEs 0.06 0.07
Total Particulate Matter (PM) TR YRS 0.22 0.37
Total et 3.33 5.44
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GHG Emissions i8R B

During the Reporting Period, majority of our GHG emissions are ~ R¥REH] - AL DB EREEHRI R A X
generated from (i) combustion of petrol by our forklift and motor K REEpAEE M (S8 —) s BAEHEAES S
vehicles (Scope 1); consumption of electricity in our office (Scope 2); (#E =) RFERAAR (HE=) - NEFELE
and consumption of paper (Scope 3). The diesel utilised for forklift @72 FR {5 Fl &9 5 0m f2 T P9 72 T b s A O R SR 6%
during operations and the construction waste we generated in  #* ZHAFERFRELEE B - BT
construction sites were mainly provided and handled by the main  #EEZ FRARESIEIZE A BAOLE - TRH
contractors therefore we have no record of those KPls. The table  MIREHDE = REBER (A —&/cixE £ ([ M
below provides a breakdown of our GHG emissions in tonnes CO, =& {LBEE ) T) A -

equivalent (“tCO,e") during the Reporting Period:

2024/2025 2023/2024

2024/2025%  2023/2024%

tCO e tCo,e

GHG Emissions BERBEHN M_E{HEE M_EthgEs
Total Scope 1 Emissions HE—HRBE 11.27 12.84
Total Scope 2 Emissions' HEZHWBRE 5.33 5.73
Total Scope 3 Emissions HE=—HRBE 3.11 3.59
Total Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) g E (BHE— - k=) 19.71 22.16
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) RE(BEEBITKAN) 0.04 0.04

For the Reporting Period, Scope 1 emissions accounted for RIMEH  HE —HRELIEREHNEE
approximately 57% of the total GHG emissions, Scope 2 emissions ~ #]57% * €3E —BEME B EREHMEE D
accounted for approximately 27% of the total GHG emissions and  27%  M&E = HIE A EREHFREED
Scope 3 emissions accounted for approximately 16% of the total 16% < JAERAEHMERE R EREH R A19.71
GHG emissions. The total GHG emissions and its intensity were 19.71  BE_ &Lk E 2 LT E &8 T W A0.041E — 4

tCO,e and 0.04 tCO,e per million HK$ revenue respectively. 1LiRE 2 °
1 The emission factor used for the calculation of Scope 2 emissions was ! AR ESE BB R AR EE
available from the latest sustainability report published by the CLP Power BR DB BN EMH AR EEERE R B -

Hong Kong Limited.
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To minimise the direct and indirect GHG emissions associated with
our operations, we have implemented several measures, including:

—  reminding our employees to switch off idling engines when our
forklifts or motor vehicles are not in use;

— monitoring the fuel consumption of our forklifts and motor
vehicles and conducting regular maintenance and inspections to
ensure optimal performance; and

— adhering to air pollution abatement guidelines as outlined in our
environmental management plan. These guidelines encompass
ensuring that the concentration and rates of air pollutants
comply with pertinent environmental protection laws and
regulations, conducting regular inspections to ensure that our
forklifts and motor vehicles” GHG emissions fall do not exceed
the prescribed legal limits as well as prohibiting open burning on
project sites.

Waste Management

According to our materiality assessment, waste disposal and
composite utilisation has been shown to be one of the key concerns
pertaining to environmental problems by our stakeholders. It is of
utmost importance for the Group to address to the needs of our
stakeholders and we will perpetually strive to adopt appropriate
waste reduction and recycling measures as well as being in
compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance.
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Hazardous Wastes

To the best knowledge of our executive Directors and due to the
nature of our business, the Group did not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste during our operations. However, we
have established guidelines to manage any hazardous substances or
chemicals that may be used in our operations.

For instance, we compile safety data sheets that detail the
composition and physical and chemical properties of any hazardous
materials we use, as well as instructions for their safe handling,
storage, use, and disposal. We also provide training and workshops to
our employees on the proper treatment of hazardous substances and
chemicals.

In the rare event that we do produce hazardous waste, a qualified
chemical waste collector will be appointed to handle and dispose
of such waste in compliance with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.
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Non-Hazardous Wastes BEEEY
2024/2025 2023/2024
2024/2025% 2023/20244F
kg kg
Waste BEY F= 5=
Total Non-Hazardous Wastes? EEFEY)B 82 648.65 748.44
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) RE(EEEBTERAN) 1.22 1.28

The non-hazardous waste that the Group generates are primarily
from paper consumption and domestic waste. For those papers
containing sensitive information of the Group, they will be properly
scattered before being treated as waste. Such wastes are collected
and processed by our office’s property management, therefore,
the relevant quantitative data is not available. And we have no
discharges into land except solid waste that delivers to landfills. Over
the Reporting Period, we generated approximately 648.65kg of
non-hazardous waste.

2 Non-hazardous wastes only includes paper wastes from our office.
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To limit the environmental impact of our non-hazardous waste,
we have implemented several waste management measures and
launched various waste reduction initiatives. These measures include
providing recycling bins for various waste streams to encourage
recycling, promoting the use of electronic communication to reduce
paper consumption, placing a collection box for single-sided used
paper next to each printer to promote paper reuse, and encouraging
employees to use double-sided printing or photocopying whenever
possible. Moreover, on-site project teams are trained to study the
customer’s specifications very well to gauge the estimated number of
materials that will be used so as to prevent wastage.

Through these measures, we aim to reduce the amount of
non-hazardous waste generated by our business operations and
promote sustainable waste management practices.

Sewage Discharge

The Group's operations have not resulted in any significant water
consumption, and thus we have not generated any substantial water
discharges during the Reporting Period. In compliance with the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance, any wastewater that is produced at
site is discharged into the municipal sewage pipeline network for
processing under the account of our main contractors.

Noise

Given the nature of our business, we acknowledge that noise
generated on project sites can have negative environmental impacts.
To minimise any annoyance to the community and environment, we
have adopted specific noise pollution control policies on our project
sites.

The Group has taken practical steps to mitigate excessive noise
resulting from our operations. These measures include utilising
advanced construction and noise damping technology to minimise
noise levels. Furthermore, we investigate underlying causes and make
necessary adjustments to adhere to relevant regulations, such as
the Noise Control Ordinance, when noise levels exceed prescribed
levels. Additionally, we provide hearing protection devices for our
employees to minimise their exposure to excessive noise levels. By
implementing these measures, we aim to reduce the negative impact
of noise pollution resulting from our operations and ensure the safety
and well-being of our employees.
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Resource Consumption BRE
Energy Consumption BERFER
The Group’s primary sources of energy consumption mainly included AEEHF B FEFEAEERIENAEFEAN
(i) consumption of petrol by our motor vehicles; and (ii) electricity /&)@ : R()FRAEFMAEN - TRFAMIHIT
used in office. The table below provides a detailed breakdown of our ~ IR RE BN A = B aE/RE A RAA -
major sources of energy consumption during the Reporting Period:
2024/2025 2023/2024
2024/2025%  2023/2024%F
Mwh Mwh
Energy Consumption BEIRAE JEEBF JEEL R
Direct Energy Consumption? HERREE® 40.94 46.78
Indirect Energy Consumption* BEF T 14.03 14.69
Total Energy Consumption BiEseE 54.97 61.47
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) RE(BEEBITKAN) 0.10 0.11

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption and its
intensity were 54.97MWh and 0.10MWh per million HK$ revenue
respectively.

In addition to the energy saving measures implemented for our
forklifts and motor vehicles, our Group has established energy
conservation management practices to minimise the waste of energy.
These include:

encouraging e-office practices and measures that promote
energy conservation, such as turning off electronic appliances
when not in use;

—  encouraging employees to set room temperatures within the
range of 23° C to 25° C;

— providing regular training and workshops to enhance
knowledge on energy-saving measures and awareness among
employees;

—  fostering the use of energy-saving and efficient equipment and
attending to damages immediately once reported.

By adopting these energy conservation measures, we aim to minimise
our energy consumption and promote sustainable practices within
our business operations.

3 Direct energy consumption includes usage of fuels by the Group’s motor
vehicles.

4 Indirect energy consumption includes usage of electricity purchased
from the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited for the Group’s office use.
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Water Consumption

Our Group's primary water consumption occurs within our office,
and our water consumption expenses are included in the property
management fee. Therefore, the related consumption data is not
available. To ensure efficient use of water, we have implemented
measures to increase water efficiency. For example, we have placed
environmental signs with water-saving messages in prominent
locations within our office to promote water conservation. Through
these measures, we aim to promote sustainable water usage practices
and minimise our environmental impact.

Water is also recognised as a precious resource. During the Reporting
Period, we obtained water from the third-party suppliers, hence, we
were not aware of any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations do not involve any production process,
it does not consume packaging materials, this aspect is considered
irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s primary objective is to minimise the negative impact
of business operations on the environment and natural resources.
To achieve this, the Group aims to implement best practices that
promote environmental protection and adaptation to climate change.
Additionally, the Group strives to cultivate an eco-conscious culture
that encourages positive lifestyle and habits among employees.

In addition to our full compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance,
Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Air Pollution Control
(Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation and Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, an environmental management system in
conformance with I1SO 14001 international standard has also been
established. In general, works performed by our subcontractors are
inspected and monitored by our project management team to ensure
adherence with our environmental management system.
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The Group shows our commitment by identifying and planning for
effective responses to potential environmental impacts of related
business activities as follows:

6 B B 3 I R R B A B AR R B B
MEEBREY B BRBRMYERNA
RS

Environmental Impacts Activity Response
BREYE EE = fE
Air and noise pollution e Machinery operations e Advanced technology for mitigation

° Construction works
RS o HEMUIRIE
o  EETHE

Water contamination e  Discharge of wastewater
UNEES o EEKEEM

Depletion of natural resources e  Office operations

e Construction works
FIBRREIR o WNEEE

o EEIR

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to air and GHG emissions, noise
control, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.

Climate change

The Board are responsible for setting climate-related policies, approve
targets, and ensuring compliance with regulatory standards. The Board
meet annually to evaluate climate-related risks and opportunities,
incorporating them into corporate strategy and operational
decision-making. Senior management of our Group are responsible
for facilitating the implementation of climate initiatives, risk mitigation
measures, performance monitoring; and reporting to our executive
Directors regularly. Our Board will also stay informed about the
latest government policies regarding climate change and collaborate
closely to identify future risks and opportunities and take appropriate
measures to adapt to the constantly changing circumstances. When
necessary, our Board may seek professional advice from external
experts to better support the decision-making process.

The Hong Kong Government has developed various plans and
initiatives in response to the Paris Agreement, including the issuance
of “Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan.” This plan outlines the vision
of achieving “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable
Development” and includes specific actions to achieve this goal.
The Group intends to align with local government initiatives and
comply with the local emission reduction requirements. Our target
is to reduce GHG emissions by approximately 3% by the financial
year 2027/28, and we are committed to ensuring that Group’s GHG
emissions will meet the local requirements by 2030 at the latest.

o SRR

. Emissions control

o HEEIHERK
. Resource utilisation reduction

o EAERER
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The Group has included climate change action in its business strategy ~ ANEB B SR IEZCITEN M A L ZE RS - I
and integrated it into its governance and management processes. AR MPIME AR ERBFES - TRHM T
A table provided below outlines the four essential elements of AEERER RGBS S HE TEANE
the Group'’s response to the climate change disclosure obligations &% + [B1 & ¥ & (b 3 B8 & (£ Rt S &9 U & A
according to the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures 22

recommendations.

Core element

The Group's response

BOEER AEEEE
Governance e Regular meeting on ESG topics
e Incorporating ESG matters, including those related to climate, into corporate
decision-making processes
R e HERR -HElkELZBAREHER
e KRR HEMERFH(BREARKEBNER)MARTRRRE
Strategy e Understanding climate risks and recognising the risks and opportunities associated
with the transition to a low-carbon economy
KB o TR SRR E P I HERR K A B AL AR R BV L B N B

Risk Management

e\ i 3

Metrics and Targets

EREEER

e Reviewing ESG risk on regular basis

e Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy

e Establishing and implementing measures to manage physical climate risks
o THRAERER g REGBER

o  EHBEEEIRKE

e RIUNZEREBEHMEERERAIKER

e Developing short-term, medium-term, and long-term goals for reducing GHG
emissions to achieve net-zero emissions

o HIETEFBABEREBHMBEBNE FRERABZR  UERFTHK
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After analysing the data provided by the Hong Kong Observatory, we
have identified several risks and opportunities that may have material

impact on our business growth:

BRI TBEAARNERENBE 2% - @5
HEZERT RPN EBERENEATE
B e R R

Risks Opportunities
R B 3]
Short term (0-1 year) e Transition risks — Securing the skills e Technologies to enhance the

HE(OR14F) J
Medium term °
(5 years)

A AR (54F) J

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

and capability required to implement
climate strategy

Transition risks — Implementation of
regulations to mandate “Prevention of
Heat Stress At Work” guidelines
Physical risks — Rising temperature and
heightened precipitation resulting in
the proliferation of mosquitoes, which
increases the risk of transmission of
mosquito-borne diseases

Physical risks — Increased frequency and

severity of extreme weather conditions
such as cyclones and extreme
precipitation

BERR - ESEERIERRBEAFRN

ReeEMBEN
R R — B R B - AR Bl TT
[ TR FARD & 45 5

HRAR — TR LA R BN
BBAA R - N T RTEER
REER
ALK — KRR (i A
R E ) AR RRE
ST

Transition risks — Implementation of
low-carbon policies for the operation
Transition risks — Changing

customer behaviour in response to
climate-related risk will affect demand
and supply of our goods and services
B A — i 8 B AR EUR
BERR—F P17 REERIREBS
R meE - BRI MR RE
B sk

performance of operation and energy
efficiency

e Heat-relieving measures to combat
increasing temperatures and rearrange
work schedules to avoid working under
hot weather

o EFBERTR RN ORI
BRE R 8 MO B S 5 - LA R B
HETIER R BRERBERA T L

e Increasing opportunities in
environmentally friendly urban
redevelopment

e Replacing our forklifts with those that
emit less GHG

o BINRRTEEEZMNKSE
e BXEFHARERBIHRERIH
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Risks

Ak

RIg - HERERHSE

Opportunities
®ia

Medium to long term

(5+ years)

R RE (B8

Action on Climate Change

Our action plan encompasses various measures, including but not

limited to:

B54F)

Transition risks — Potential new
regulation and policies such as carbon
taxes will increase cost

Transition risks — Development and use
of emerging technologies may increase
the operational costs, and reduce the
Group's competitiveness

Transition risks — Reputation may be
impacted due to changing customer or
community perceptions if we do not
achieve the public demands

Physical risks — Rising sea levels
resulting in severe damages to wet
trades works performed at low-lying
areas due to flooding

8K B\ — B 1 B FT AR B X UK (78
fik A5 ) #538 IN AR AR
B R — B R I T L Al AT A
GHINEERAE  REAEENRS
7
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i %ﬁiﬁ@%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁiéé
""""" B mMEERMHEE
E:‘%;'f *ﬁ?ﬁiﬂﬂ#%@ﬂﬂfﬁ
mELﬁmﬁmIﬁl#mﬁEW?
B

e Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets

e Becoming a pioneer in the industry and
building up the relevant reputations

o BEREMEETS  ERBAN
B B AR
o ARITERE BUBE

HERIZEB BB TE

encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to reduce  —

carbon emissions into their day-to-day activities wherever

feasible;

establishing and implementing long-term targets for reducing  —
our carbon footprint;

adopting industry best practices and technology to enhance  —

energy efficiency in our daily operations such as replacing our
forklifts with those that emit less GHG or are more efficient in

energy consumption; and

taking climate change into account in all strategic matters. -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices
Employment, Recruitment and Promotion

The Group acknowledges that the success of the organisation heavily
relies on the skills, capabilities, and commitment of its employees.
Therefore, the Group’s philosophy is centered on attracting highly
competent candidates who share the same values and mission as the
Group, while also promoting diversity to foster excellence. The Group
aims to recruit suitable talent and maintain a pool of employees based
on human resource planning and requirements. High-performing
employees will be promoted and moved to fill vacancies, providing
them with opportunities to advance within the Group.

In addition, the Group values the growth and development of
its employees. Generally, employee salaries are determined by
their qualifications, position, and seniority. To attract and retain
valuable employees, annual performance appraisals are conducted
to assess their performance in various areas such as safety, work
ethics, technical skills, and interpersonal skills. The Group takes
these evaluations into account during the annual salary review and
promotion appraisal process.

The Group has adhered to all relevant employment laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to:

—  Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57);

—  Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282);

—  Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485);
—  Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608);

—  Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Cap. 583);
—  Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480); and

—  Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487).
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group is dedicated to maintaining reasonable working hours and
ensuring that employees receive adequate rest periods. All employees
are entitled to public or statutory holidays, which are announced
in The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Gazette each year. Additionally, employees have access to various
types of leave, including but not limited to annual leave, sick leave,
compensation leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage leave,
and compassionate leave.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group shows unwavering commitment to promote equal
opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination in our workplace.
Equal opportunities are provided pertaining to human resources
matters or in any other activities during employment regardless of
age, gender, physical or mental state, marital status, family status,
pregnancy, race, colour, nationality or ethnic origin, religion, or sexual
orientation. Employees are recognised and rewarded according to
their contribution, performance and skill, which leads to different
remuneration packages and training opportunities.

Any forms of verbal or physical abuse, physical punishment, or actions
that may be considered oppressive or regarded as sexual harassment
towards our employees are strictly prohibited. We also condemn
any punishments, supervision methods, or disciplinary actions that
incorporate such behaviour. In the situation when employees feel
sexual harassed, they are strongly urged to report the matter to their
relevant supervisors or department heads to seek advice and discuss.
Detailed investigations will be conducted by the Human Resources
and Administration Department and managed confidentially
according to the guidelines for handling sexual harassment
complaints.

If justified, relevant disciplinary actions will be taken, which in the
most severe cases, may result in termination of the employment
contract.

RIg - HERERHSE
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Board Diversity Policy

In recognition of the benefits of diversity, the Group has established
a board diversity policy. The Group sees the importance of gender
diversity and will continue to foster gender diversity at all levels
including but without limitation on our Board. In addition, we aim
to provide more training resources and career growth opportunities
for experienced female employees as well as nominating female
management staff who possess relevant skills and experience to our
Board. The Group believes that the implementation of Board Diversity
Policy will bring about a positive impact in the long run.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group offers numerous incentives and welfare to its employees
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
The Group participates in the defined contribution scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme Ordinance where contributions
are based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The
Group's employer contributions are fully vested with the employees
upon being contributed to the Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Labour Standards

The Group upholds its values to respect international human rights
and strongly condemns any human rights abuse especially child
labour, forced labour and illegal labour. The Group abides by the
relevant laws and regulations and acts in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations (Cap. 57B), the Immigration
Ordinance (Cap. 115) and the Employment Ordinance during the
recruitment process. We therefore establish strict regulations to
prevent having child labour, illegal immigrants or workers from being
on-site.

To avoid illegal employment of child and forced labour, the human
resources department of the Group requires all job applicants to
provide valid identity documents to ensure that they can be lawfully
employed prior to the confirmation of employment. Important
details such as job duties, locations and working hours of the staff
are also set out clearly in the employment contract to protect their
rights and interests. Once any case is found to be against the labour
standards, the employment will be terminated immediately, while the
responsible personnel will be disciplined accordingly.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of ~HRREHA - AEE I T AB R HF E XM
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant 25 FE T g $S TERAEHAREBEELS
impact on the Group in relation to preventing child and forced FEBNEDIER o

labour.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 55 employees 7202593 A31H * "&EEA £ B558EE (F
(independent non-executive directors are not included), all of whom — BIEBIEAITER) © BHEEHBLANEE ° A
were based in Hong Kong. Below are the details of the workforce and T ARBREHRNEBREEEK LIEE RKEN

the rate of employee turnover during the Reporting Period: EA i
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
H2025F FA20244F
Workforce’ EEE RS 3A31H 3A31H
By Gender = RIE D
Male = 47 75
Female z 8 14
By Age Group RERARE D
Below 30 305k AT 6 "
31-50 31E508% 36 42
51 or above 51k A 13 36
By Employment Level REBRE D
Senior Management BREERE 13 10
Middle Management FREEE 34 45
General Staff —®BET 8 34
By Employment Type REBERES
Part-time Fe 0 3
Full-time £S04 55 86
By Geographical Region RitBENEE D
Hong Kong B 55 89
Total Number of Employee EEAH 55 89
5 It includes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the 5 H{EBEAEERE - DEENIATEFE

subcontractors are not included.
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As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
120255 20244
Turnover Rate® Tk 26 3A31H 38318
By Gender RiERIE D
Male Es 90% 34%
Female Z 64% 46%
By Age Group RERARE D
Below 30 305K AT 47 % 84%
31-50 312505 31% 20%
51 or above SRR 100% 53%
By Geographical Region RibBNEE S
Hong Kong BB 86% 36%
Overall Turnover Rate BRKE 86% 36%
Occupational Health and Work Safety B¥REHTFZE

The Group prioritises occupational health and work safety, and
as a result, we have adopted an occupational health and safety
management system, which has been certified to be compliant to
ISO 45001 standards. This is a testament to our commitment to
promoting a safe and healthy working environment for all employees.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.
509), Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59),
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Cap. 59), Occupiers Liability
Ordinance (Cap. 314).

6 Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the
Reporting Period + Number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period. The Group had a total of 55 employee turnover during the
Reporting Period.

REEEBERRET L2 REEEME -
Bt - HARA T —ERERFEEZEEIER
gt HOERERFTAISO 45001422 « 5 — &
ERERMUNS2RBEERY —BAL2ER
) TARERIZAY G

AEEBEEETREEAREHRZEZTHFERER
REREERXBECTNEREIESR - £1EE
TRUFS09BCHE L 2 REFEERA]) - 598
(IR TREEGD) - F59E(REME (R
2) RO REINAE(ERNEREEED) -
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Health and Safety Measures and Implementation

The implementation of our occupational health and safety policies
is overseen by our project management team, who make sure that
we comply with all the applicable safety standards. The Group has
created an internal safety plan that we regularly review to integrate
the most up-to-date best practices and enhance certain aspects of our
safety management system.

Ensuring that workers and subcontractors follow proper and safe
working practices is a critical responsibility of our safety supervisor.
They provide regular guidance to maintain high safety standards. If
we observe any subcontractors repeatedly violating our internal safety
procedures, we may enforce fines or exclude them from our list of
approved subcontractors.

We conduct regular meetings with our subcontractors to guarantee
that safety measures are implemented effectively. These meetings
are an opportunity to discuss safety measures and address any safety
issues that arise during the project implementation process. By doing
so, we can identify potential safety hazards and take the necessary
steps to mitigate them, creating a safer working environment for all
involved.

Acquiring Equipment and Tools to Further Strengthen
our Occupational Safety

We are fully committed to promoting safety practices throughout
our project implementations and continuously strive to enhance
occupational safety by investing in appropriate equipment and tools.
Our safety plan outlines strict safety rules that all employees, as well
as subcontractors’ employees, are required to follow. In addition, we
provide suitable personal protective equipment, including full-body
harnesses, safety helmets, and safety boots, based on the type of
work being performed. Our goal is to ensure that all workers are
equipped with the necessary safety gear to perform their work
safely and without undue risk. In addition, in compliance with the
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations, we guarantee adequate
quantities of planks and toe-boards to ensure the safety of our
workers when working at heights. This will also attract quality
subcontractors and workers to work with us in the future.
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Enhanced Internal Control Measures for Accident
Management

While unpredictable accidents are inevitable, the Group believes to
constantly improve measures to enhance our internal controls and
safety measures to prevent pasts incidents from happening again.
These measures included:

— Improving our site accident reporting procedures by establishing
a clear workflow for reporting accidents that occur on work
sites. We assigned contact persons responsible for each site to
ensure that accidents are reported promptly and efficiently. This
enables the senior management and project management team
to receive timely notifications of site accidents for the handling
of work injuries and reporting to the Labour Department. In
cases where there is a delay in reporting a site accident, our
executive Directors are informed. They promptly follow up with
the relevant staff and/or main contractor to ensure that the site
accident is reported within the required timeline to the Labour
Department.

—  Establishing an instant message application for accident
reporting. This involves a site accident reporting channel to
facilitate timely reporting of accidents.

Ensuring Safety Compliance at Project Site

As one of the means to ensure safety compliance, a mandatory safety
training course is required to be taken by every construction site
worker who will then be able to attain a valid certificate (also referred
as “green card”) before he/she is approved to enter a construction
site.

The Group conducts site safety induction briefing sessions for
workers on their first day of work and provides on-site training for
workers, including subcontractors’ employees. The safety training
covers various topics such as safety procedures for different types of
work (e.g., working at height), emergency procedures, duties and
procedures for reporting hazards, incidents, accidents, and diseases,
potential hazards at work sites, proper usage of personal protective
equipment, contingency measures, and good housekeeping
practices. These safety training sessions are intended to educate
workers on the importance of safety measures and to provide them
with the necessary knowledge and skills to perform their work safely.
We also regularly review and update our training programs to ensure
that they remain effective and relevant to the changing needs of our
work sites.
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Additionally, the Group maintains effective promotion and
communication of safety procedures through various measures.
These include establishing a safety incentives scheme which rewards
workers with a cash coupon for good safety performance, conducting
regular internal and external safety meetings and documenting safety
issues spotted for each project. General safety rules are also posted
on prominent noticeboards on site. These rules highlight safe working
procedures for work-at-height encompassing areas such as (i) access
to and egress from scaffolds; (i) proper erection of working platform;
(iii) regular inspection of scaffold by competent person; and (iv) use
of personal protection equipment including fall arrestor and safety
harness. Anyone who does not comply with the safety rules will face
disciplinary actions.

The Group's safety officer conducts risk assessments to identify
potential hazards and accidents and suggests preventive measures
before commencing work. Site inspections are carried out weekly by
our safety supervisors to ensure compliance with safety regulations.
Safety audits and reviews are also conducted in accordance
with Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management)
Regulation.

Safety Organisation

Our safety department is responsible for implementing the safety
management system at our project sites. Additionally, we established
a safety committee at the corporate level. The safety committee
enforces safety policies, reviews and assesses safety policies,
incidents, hazards, and non-compliance with safety standards and
laws. They also address cases of injuries, ill health, and property
damage, as well as incidents that have the potential to cause harm or
losses. The safety committee meets monthly to discuss accident rates
and non-compliance with safety-related laws and regulations.

Safety Performance

During the reporting period, the Group was reported 8 (2023/2024:
10) incidents of work injuries, which lead to 1,870 (2023/2024:
1,016) lost days. The Group will continue to prioritise safety by raising
awareness among its stakeholders and leveraging on these events
to improve its safety performance. The Group is pleased that no
work-related fatalities have been occurred in the past three years.

RIg - HERERHSE

s AEBIEBZAER BLE2RETFHE
TTHMOERENMER ARBEERRL—E
RERHBEE  BEEREARN - HEEHA
MR ZEEE  YLHEEBEBEENLEM
BT ARERSES - RAMETHIRSGE
REZH) & AR LR — MR Z 2 HA) - ZFERA
FImEIENT2TIERF  BREOEAR
BEFIMRZR : (NEREFEETIEE : (BAEERA
TEHREWMER  MVERBEALERE  f
MR EREEkZET  ERERZERAOHA
T KEBRLERED -

AEENRZEEETEEETRRE - AR
BERBRES  UHEET A ETE#E
EEENEZ - RN L2EESERNSE
TEMRE BRIAEBTRZE2RA - HAR
SRBCIMEIELZ (R2EE) RODET
RERITREE -

by 74

BPNZ2HMAEHERETHERLEEE
R o WA BPTMERRIEERY T —Ax:
ZEBE REZBERAFBHIPNTLEERE
ERLHELEERE  FH LERERTE
EHSOEPINER 222 BEENEERER
5 B MMBRRNER - ARBAEEXS
THERNEN L2 ZEEBAEAHER
PAEam SR 2 IR B 22 2 ARRE R A DDA R B

1B o

ZEKH

REREEIA - NEE I ESTR (2023/2024%F -
10R) LI5S - BEUEBX TEREA1,870H
(20234 : 1,016H) - AEEKERIZEARFNHE
NEE2E#H THNAEEEHFEREELZER
W EEBLTEHIEEMN - AEBERSEBE
—FWEFERATIRTCEMN -

2024/2025 2023/2024  2022/2023
Work-related Injury Statistics IEHHET 2024/2025% 2023/2024%F 2022/2023%F
Number Reportable Accidents ETEEEANTIIERE 8 10 3
Number of Work-related Fatalities 2 R E) = HUREL 0 0 0
Number of Lost Days Due to Work Injury B T3L1- A 1,870 1,016 182
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Development and Training

The Group places great importance on providing training and
development programs to our employees to enhance their
productivity and contribute to the long-term growth of the
organisation. According to our training and development policy,
we strive to ensure that all employees have equal opportunities to
develop their knowledge, skills, and abilities through various learning
channels, such as mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training, courses,
conferences, and seminars.

On top of that, we conduct performance appraisals to assess our
employees’ personal strengths and weaknesses, as well as their
suitability for promotion or further training. Based on the results of
the performance appraisal, we provide discretionary bonuses and
salary adjustments to our employees.

We offer a range of training programs to our employees, including
technical knowledge related to wet trades works, safety, first aid,
and environmental matters. These training programs are available
through both internal and external channels, such as courses
organised by the Occupational Safety and Health Council, which we
sponsor our employees to attend.

As construction workers, our employees are generally required to be
registered under the Construction Workers Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 583). We believe that investing in our employees’ training and
development is essential to ensuring that they have the skills and
knowledge necessary to perform their work safely and effectively.
This also leads to improved employee engagement and attendance
rates, ultimately contributing to the profitability and success of our
organisation. Therefore, we aim to constantly provide access to a
variety of training programs as well as encouraging our employees to
take up training programs and seminars for self-improvement.
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Throughout the Reporting Period, 37 employees of the total
workforce received training, representing approximately 67% of the
Group's employees. The total number of training hours provided
to these employees was 45.85 hours. The tables below set out the
breakdown of the percentage of employee trained and the average
training hours per employee, respectively, by gender and employment

RIg - HERERHSE

REEREHAN  BREEEKTAIIARTIE
B AARKEREAZBNDN6T% - AZERE
R IFIIE S £ R45.85 M - TRHETIH
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level:

2024/2025 2023/2024
Percentage of Employee Trained’ ZiEEBD L 2024/2025% 2023/2024%
By Gender = RIE D
Male Es 95% 92%
Female z 5% 8%
By Employment Level REBRE D
Senior Management SRERRE 14% 11%
Middle Management FREEE 78% 71%
General Staff —®BEI 8% 19%
2024/2025 2023/2024
hours/ hours/
employee employee
Average Training Hours Per Employee® & % {&E 8 HIF 1953 i Ee 2024/2025% 2023/2024%F
N EE N BB
By Gender &1 Bl 8l 5
Male = 0.94 2.00
Female o8 0.22 3.25
By Employment Level R AR E D
Senior Management BREEE 0.38 4.75
Middle Management FRERE 1.11 2.25
General Staff —®BET 0.38 1.38
Overall Average Training Hours Per B &{ES T 1915 E A
Employee 0.83 2.20

7 Percentage of employee trained = Number of employees in the specified
category received training during the reporting period + Number of
employees received training during the reporting period.

8 Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting
period + Total number of employees at the end of the reporting period.

7 RIREANH=RERNFEEINZIEE
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the importance of building and maintaining
strong relationships with our suppliers to achieve consistency and
stability in areas such as cost reduction, efficiency improvement,
and supply chain continuity. Our suppliers primarily comprise
subcontractors, providers of wet works materials, and providers of
machinery and equipment.

We believe that working closely with our suppliers is critical to
ensuring that we have access to high-quality materials and equipment
at competitive prices. By building strong relationships with our
suppliers, we can also improve communication and collaboration,
leading to greater operational efficiency and productivity. We are
committed to maintaining open and transparent communication with
our suppliers to ensure that we can work together to achieve our
shared goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 535
(2023/2024: 478) suppliers and subcontractors.
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2024/2025 2023/2024
2024/2025%F  2023/2024%F

Geographical regions &
Hong Kong B 534 478
Cambodia RIEEE 1 -

The Group identifies environmental and social risks of the supply
chain through stringent and systematic supplier/subcontractor
management.

AEBERBRERBRAGOHRES, HDEEE
2 BRI R RIR A g R -
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Enhancing our information technology capability and
project implementation efficiency

The procurement of an Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system
is part of our plan to boost our information technology capacity and
improve project implementation efficiency. This system will simplify
the process of procuring materials and managing subcontractor
payroll. Our executive Directors are confident that the new ERP
system will carry out the following functions:

— facilitates the ordering process by allowing our project
management team to send purchase requests online via web
application which is accessible by mobile device;

—  facilitates the approval process of purchase orders by allowing
web-based payment approval by our site agent and/or executive
Directors;

—  facilitates the processing of purchase orders by generating
purchase orders automatically from purchase requests;

—  reduces errors and duplication of purchase orders by storing all
purchase requests in a central database;

—  facilitates the management of purchase orders by matching
ordered materials to the relevant project and allowing our staff
to retrieve and trace any purchase orders placed on a real time
basis; and

— enhances documentation and automates manual procedures
such as record of works performed by subcontractors and
online storage of progress payment applications submitted by
subcontractors.
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Basis of selecting our suppliers

Our usual practice involves procuring materials and tools from a list
of verified suppliers that we maintain internally. In selecting these
suppliers, we assess several factors including their pricing, the quality
of materials they offer, their ability to deliver on time, and their
capability to meet our specifications and requirements. Our list of
approved suppliers is constantly reviewed and updated to ensure its
accuracy and relevance.

If suppliers meet the same performance standards as others in their
industry, we give preference to those who offer sustainable products
and services. To provide products and services to our Group, suppliers
must adhere to statutory requirements for environmental protection.
For example, the forklifts we own are Regulated Machines and are
subject to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery Regulation.

To ensure compliance with environmental protection statutory
requirements, we require all suppliers who provide products and
services to our Group to adhere to these regulations. We believe
that it is our responsibility to work with suppliers who operate
in an environmentally responsible manner and are committed to
minimising their impact on the environment.

Basis of selecting subcontractors

The Group values the importance of selecting the right
subcontractors to ensure the success of our construction projects.
When evaluating subcontractors, we consider several factors to
ensure that we select the most qualified and skilled candidates
for the job, including the quality of their services, qualifications,
skills and techniques, prevailing market prices, delivery time,
availability of resources, and reputation. We maintain an internal
list of approved subcontractors that we update regularly based on
these factors. This list includes only those subcontractors who meet
our stringent selection criteria. When selecting subcontractors,
we follow a rigorous process and obtain quotations from multiple
eligible candidates for comparison. We evaluate and select the
candidate with the most pertinent experience for the specific project,
availability, and a competitive fee quotation.
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Product Responsibility

At the Group, product quality and safety are fundamental values that
guide our construction and maintenance activities. We recognise the
importance of delivering high-quality work and are committed to
fulfilling our contractual duties with integrity and efficiency, as stated
in our quality policy.

To achieve this, we aim to gain a strong understanding of our
customers’ demands and a clear control system to continually
improve the competitiveness of our services. The Group fosters
among all employees the awareness and significance of quality.
Teamwork, participation and leadership are strongly encouraged to
attain the Group's objectives.

Service responsibility

In addition to our commitment to quality, we also take responsibility
for our services. We maintain ongoing communication with our
customers to ensure that we understand and meet their expectations
and demands. Upon completion of our projects, our site agent of
the project management team arranges for handover of the project
sites to our customers. We encourage our customers to perform site
visits, and if any defects are detected, rectifications will be scheduled
promptly.

Quality control

The Group understands that our dedication to quality services is the
key to our reputation and continual success. To ensure such quality,
a comprehensive quality control system, which is certified to be in
conformance with the requirements of ISO 9001 standards, has been
established. We have established and devised a quality manual that
stipulates procedures and controls related to the quality management
system, proper filing, communication with customers, revision of
quality manual and procedures, employee training, internal and
external audits, evaluation and procurement of materials and tools,
subcontracting services, and management of non-conforming work.
We believe that by maintaining a culture of quality and continuous
improvement, we can achieve our objectives and deliver value to our
customers.
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The quality control measures adopted by our Group include the
followings:

Collecting feedbacks from customers

As we strongly value our customers’ opinions, our executive Directors
and senior management team conduct regular engagements with
customers and conduct site visits to gather feedback. The Group
ensures speedy response to these customer feedback to guarantee
top-notch service standards consistently. Additionally, we may
participate in progress meetings held by customers to address any
issues identified in the projects.

Designation of project management team

Every project will be managed by a project management team with
relevant qualifications and experience. The site agent is in-charge
of overseeing the team as well as the overall project management,
including communication and coordination with customers, providing
guidance to team members, monitoring the project’s progress,
budget, and service quality.

Throughout the project implementation period, we are typically
required to submit monthly progress reports to customers, depending
on their requests. Our project management team prepares these
reports, which outline the project status and any identified issues. Our
senior management team reviews the reports to ensure their accuracy
and completeness, and then submits them to customers for their
records.

Quality of materials and tooling

To ensure the quality of the materials and tools we use, we maintain
an updated approved list of suppliers. Before finalising the materials
that we will use from our suppliers, we typically submit samples to
our customers to seek consent. Specific branded materials may be
procured upon customer requests. Upon the arrival of materials and
tools, we perform inspections to verify their quality standards.

Works performed by subcontractors

At the Group, we take responsibility for the performance and
quality of work rendered by our subcontractors. To ensure the
compliance of our subcontractors with our contract specifications,
we have implemented a quality management system, environmental
management system, and occupational health and safety
management system that conform to the ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and ISO 45001 standards, respectively. Works performed by
our subcontractors are inspected and monitored by our project
management team based on these systems.
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To ensure compliance with our contract specifications, we have put in
place the following measures to oversee the quality and advancement
of work that we have outsourced to our subcontractors:

—  our project management team holds periodic meetings with
the responsible personnel for our subcontractors to assess their
performance and address any challenges encountered during
their work;

— our subcontractors must adhere to our safety management
system guidelines and instructions. The on-site safety
performance of our subcontractors will be closely monitored by
our project management team; and

— our project management team continually examines the
work carried out by our subcontractors during project
implementation based on our quality control manual. We
evaluate the performance of our subcontractors based on
their (i) ability to meet delivery schedules; (ii) response to
instructions; (iii) ability to honour the defects liability period; (iv)
management commitment; (v) quality of services; and (vi) cost
competitiveness.

We believe that by monitoring the quality and progress of works
outsourced to our subcontractors and ensuring their compliance with
our contract specifications, we can deliver high-quality, safe, and
reliable construction and maintenance services to our customers.

Health and Safety and Product Return

Our contracts generally include a defects liability period of 12 to 24
months, following the completion of the relevant site works. During
the defects liability period, we are typically required to rectify any
defect without delay at our own cost if the defect is due to our
nonconformance of works performed, or due to our neglect or failure
to comply with our contractual obligation.

The Group's business does not involve any research and
development, product manufacturing, packaging and labelling
activities. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance relating to customer health and
safety, product return during the Reporting Period.
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Complaint Handling

In order to handle and prevent potential complaints, we have
various customer complaints and feedback handling procedures
established such as conducting regular engagements with customers
and conducting site visits to gather feedback as specified under the
“Quality control — Collecting feedbacks from customers” section
above, as well as our defects liability period as specified under the
“Health and Safety and Product Return” section above. To the best
of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group did not receive any official
complaints from its customers during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Properties

We acknowledge the significance of safeguarding and upholding
our intellectual property rights and abide by all pertinent laws and
regulations that have a notable impact on our operations. These
include but are not limited to (i) the Trademarks Ordinance (Cap. 559)
and (i) the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) in Hong Kong.

To avoid infringement of any third party’s intellectual property rights,
we prohibit our employees to use unlicensed computer software or
making unauthorised software copies. The Employee Handbook also
stipulates the code and provision that we require our employees to
comply with.

As of the Reporting Period, the Group possess a registered domain
name and trademark in Hong Kong. We were not aware of any
significant violations, either by us of third party’s intellectual
property rights or by third parties of our intellectual property rights.
Additionally, our Directors did not have knowledge of any ongoing
or impending claims against us or any Group members regarding a
substantial infringement of third party’s intellectual property rights.

Employee and Customer Data Protection and Privacy

At the Group, we consider the confidentiality of employee and
customer information to be of utmost importance. We are committed
to protecting the privacy of our customers, business partners, and
employees in the collection, processing, and use of their personal or
business data.

Consumer data including project-related information and other
sensitive information are subject to access right control to ensure its
security and prevent any abuse and misuse. The HR Department is
responsible to observe the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486) and review our personnel and business practices from time to
time to ensure its compliance.
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As a construction work contractor, the Group did not have material
issues concerning advertising and labelling matters. Nevertheless, we
require our employees to provide customers with accurate and true
information on the Group's services.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising,
labelling, and privacy matters related to products and services
provided.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a zero-tolerance policy for any form of corruption,
including bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering and we
strictly adhere to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).
Our staff handbook includes a disciplinary code that outlines the
consequences of fraudulent behaviour, and we ensure that our
employees understand its terms.

We encourage our employees to report any suspected misconduct,
and we have established guidelines and procedures to avoid
conflicts of interest. Our staff handbook includes declaration of
interest guidelines that require our employees to act in good faith
and honesty in all transactions and avoid using their positions or
knowledge gained from their employment for personal gains.

To prevent any conflicts of interest, our employees must declare any
potential or perceived conflicts of interest to our executive Directors
when they have or have had a personal relationship with a related
person. We take any suspected or actual fraudulent behaviour
seriously and immediately report it to our directors.

The tendering process is vital to our business, and all tendering
documents are kept confidential and restricted to concerned parties
only. Fairness is needed to protect the interests of the Group and
our clients. Employees responsible for tendering must comply with
the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619), and refrain from exchanging
or communicating any sensitive information with or to competitors,
from participating in price-fixing, imposition of restrictions on clients
or abuse of a dominant market position.
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The Group is committed to upholding the highest standards of ethical
conduct and complying with all laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering in the regions where
we operate. For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in relation to bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering.

During the Reporting Period, 8 employees, representing
approximately 15% of the number of employees at the end of the
Reporting Period, attended an anti-corruption training which focused
on explaining common anti-corruption practices in construction
workplace, including soliciting introduction fees from foreman and
the use of forged documents. We will continue to provide similar
training to employees, further strengthening their knowledge of
anti-corruption.

At the Group, we prioritise transparency, integrity, and
accountability. To support this commitment, we have established
a whistleblowing policy that serves as a communication channel
for employees to report any concerns related to ethical business or
personal conduct, accounting and financial matters, integrity and
other misconduct, or maltreatment by other staff members.

We encourage our employees to come forward and voice their
concerns if they suspect any misconduct or malpractice within our
Group. We assure complainants of their anonymity and protect them
against unfair dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if their concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.

To ensure the effectiveness of our whistleblowing policy, our
Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing its
implementation regularly. The Group is committed to maintaining
the highest level of transparency, integrity, and accountability. We
provide our employees with a safe and secure whistleblowing policy
to report any concerns related to misconduct or malpractice within
our organisation without fear of retaliation.
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COMMUNITY
Community investment

Our Group strongly believes that community contribution is a vital
component of sustainable development. We recognise that our
construction projects can have a significant impact on the local
community and environment, and we are committed to building
good relationships with the communities near our project sites. We
believe that by engaging with the community, we can establish a
harmonious society and promote social welfare.

To achieve this, we are proactive in communicating with the local
community, seeking to understand their concerns and needs while
keeping them informed about our construction projects’ progress.
We aim to address any issues raised by the community promptly and
transparently. By fostering open and honest communication, we have
been able to build strong relationships with the local community,
which has been recognised by various stakeholders.

We also recognise the importance of inspiring our employees
towards social welfare awareness. We encourage our employees
to participate in voluntary work and community activities to make
a positive contribution to society. We believe that by motivating
our employees to be socially responsible and actively engaged in
community activities, we can create a culture of giving back and make
a meaningful impact on the communities in which we operate.
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During the reporting period, the Group had made donation of
approximately HK$64,000 to various charitable organisations
and activities, such as fundraising walk for injured workers and
their families. The Group continues to actively engage in social
welfare activities to better serve the community and motivate our
employees to engage in community events. Additionally, the Group
will continue to keep abreast of the latest advancement and best
practices to environmental protection at construction sites, as well as
workers’ health and safety, to further strengthen our commitment to
community care.

In summary, the Group believes that community contribution is an
essential component of sustainable development and we aim to
create long-term success in our organisation while making a positive
impact on the communities.
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B FE#E - 2t REBBAREMFER
R
(@ BE: &
by BTFTHBRTAGEAZENHEBEZER
bRt
B E K} o

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Employment and Labour
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and Practices
geographical region.

FAREBIEER .1 MR - EEEE (NRBEERE)  FRENIKE EREEIER
EE S IES LB -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group  Employment and Labour
and geographical region. Practices

RASEMIEEB1.2 RIS FRARN MRS DNERRKLLE - BREMRSEIER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1)

TRER -BH —REERBRERESR (WFED

Section
=8

Page number
'R

Aspect B2 Health and Safety
EBEB2fEFEL 5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

General Disclosure

hazards.
—REE FERMHLZE2TIERERREBEREER2REN
BER
(@ B &
by BTFTHETABEAZENHEBZEZER
vl
&R -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities

occurred in each of the past three years

BIREBIEER21 BEZFEFATITUHMHAZB L E-

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

R ENIEIER22 BEIEELAIIEHE -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R PRER AN B R R R BT 24816 - LAABRER
TRERFE-

RE SR 45 5 1ER2.3

Aspect B3 Development and Training
[ETEB3EE M5
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of training activities.

—M iR EE FRARAREBITIIERENMHBRREENHK
o BIMIFFNEE o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by

gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
ZHMRIREEER (e REEE  PAEERE)
EPNEIMEER DL ©

7 #1845 IR 15831
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Occupational Health and
Work Safety

BERREETELE

Occupational Health and
Work Safety
BERRETERZS
Occupational Health and
Work Safety
BERRETERZS

Occupational Health and
Work Safety

BERREETELE

Development and Training

R R

Development and Training

R R EFI
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1) Section Page number
TEHEE -BH - —RRERBREARER (1) =4} BiR
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training 91

employee by gender and employee category.

RAMAEMRIEIER3.2 WURINEEERE D BREETKZIINT BRIE

RSB o
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
[EEB4%S TR
General Disclosure  Information on: Employment and Labour 84
(@) the policies; and Practices
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to preventing child and forces labour.
— MR BEEP L E T 0864 TH) BREKBETIER
(@ BE: &
b) BFHBETABEATENEBREEZR
gsatll
BB HL -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Employment and Labour 84
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Practices
BSAERIEIERA R BEEMNERABEETI KRGS BRERSIER
T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  Employment and Labour 84
practices when discovered. Practices
BASAENIEIER4.2 HUEZRRERBAREREBIBELAEKRY BERSIER
K -

Operating Practices
2EIED

Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
BB E IR

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management 92-94
risks of the supply chain.

—RRWE EIRHEEAIRE LS RARBUR HEEER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Supply Chain Management 92
A MIERERS.1 RHMERB S HEREE - HEEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1)

TRER -BH —REERBRERESR (WFED

RIg - HERERHSE

Section
=8

Page number
'R

KPI B5.2

7 412 48 AR $515:B5..2

KPI'B5.3

8 52 45 WIE 1ZB5.3

KPI B5.4

A4 48 AKX $515:B5 4

Description of practices relating to engaging

suppliers, number of suppliers where the

practices are being implemented, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

A BE AR BHEERNED  mERITEEIES
MHEREE AREBERTRERTX -

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

W ARBNHERSERGORERLER

LEVER - LR ARBAITRERTA -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

W EREHERERES BRRER MRS

MBS ARBBERATRERL -

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

BHEIB6EME T

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B6.1

A 2 45 B 12B6.1

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising,

labelling and privacy matters relating to products

and services provided and methods of redress.

FAMRHERNMBRENEREZS  BEE

BEHERILEEE U R ED

(@ BR: M

b) BFHBETABEATENEBRERZR
A

BB EL o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREEXERBEHPALR T EERIEHM
AR E D -

Supply Chain Management 92-94

HrEsEE g

Supply Chain Management 92-94

HrEsEE R

Supply Chain Management 92-94

HpEsE TR

Product Responsibility 95-99
EmAE

Product Responsibility N/A
EmEE AN
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R - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1)

TRER -BH —REERBERERER(UFED

Section
=8

Page number
'R

KPI B6.2
7§ 45 5 1$B6.2
KPI B6.3
BB 48 I 15B6.3
KPI B6.4
MAGR4E i IE1EB6.4

KPI' B6.5

A4 48 AN 15 15B6.5

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.

HERNEm RGO FEE AREHTTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Rt g RIS AMBEREHNER -

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
MlE 8 E BiE NERBWIEFF -

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

WU E E B RHRE RALREE - U RAEREHT

REEERITIE -

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

[EHB7RE)S

General Disclosure

— IR

KPI'B7.1

RASEAE BUEIERT. 1

110

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BRI LB - B - BRGNS
(@ BX: &

b) EFHBITAEBAHENEBERRE
1
BER: -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERBAHBEITANEESRETETED
BVSRAARMREE RFAGR -

Product Responsibility
EmEE
Product Responsibility
EmEE
Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility

ot

EmAET

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

k&S

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

98

98

95-98

98-99

99-100

100



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs (Note 1)

TRER -BH —REERBRERESR (WFED

Section
=8

Page number
'R

KPI B7.2

RAsR A5 28 $517B7 .2

KPI'B7.3

RAsR A5 28151787 .3

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Fi L By 5 45 s R ERAR T - A AR T B
BHE e

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
ftESERE TIREMRESHEI -

Aspect B8 Community Investment

[BmEBsHtEIKE

General Disclosure

— AR TR

KPI B8.1

A% M FE1RB8.1

KPI B8.2

RA%EAE W E15B8.2

Note:

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’
interests.

B RBER T REEMEHEEZME
REXEBZBHEZ R EFZAOBER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

FIEREE (HE BEEE  BIFK
2R - Xt - B8F) °

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EFISRBEMBAER (MeEXKHE) -

1. All general disclosures and KPIs under “Subject Area A. Environmental”
and “Subject Area B. Social” are “comply or explain” provisions which
set out in the ESG Guide.

Anti-corruption

k&3

Anti-corruption

RES

Community investment

HEE

Community investment

HEIE

Community investment

HERE
GEE

99-100

100

101

101

101

1. [EEBBARE| N[ TEZHBBALE B AE
—REEREREBEEIR/RE HERE
ARSI PTE [ N E TR AR | 53T -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

iR 3 CE e

\ D
\

BB

To the Shareholders of GC Construction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited consolidated financial statements of GC
Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”), which are set out on pages 120 to 203, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B GC Construction Holdings Limited & 3
(RASFHEEMAILBNERAR)

=R

BB EETGC Construction Holdings Limited (LA
TEEMIEAR) REMBAR A THBEIES
E )50 E 1202203 E iR e M mE - &
FER2025F3 A31 B E MR E - REE
ZHIEFENGAEEERAR SaEzES
rxRFEEREMNER  REGMBHRRWT -
BREAGSTHEREMANHEMEBEER

BMRE ZEREVBERREBREES IS
MASBEMmACEBYBRELEANEEMT S
HRERT SEEMN2025%F3A31B G
MR REHZEZB IEFENGAMERE R
ABEERE WD EREBSRAEN)NEE
REZ BRRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.

iR CE: S

ERNER
BACREZESTHASRMN(EBENE
ADEITRE - RAEXFEN TRENELED
HEARRE [ BB 478 M BB AT
BRI DFIFE—SEA - REFBSHA
SRMH(EXGHEER TR CATREHE[ <
A1) - BB YR EEE YERETTRIF
MEMBERERET - BFIEE RAMES
MEREEREREEMREFNETER
TRHLERE -

RRETER
MRRETFESRERMANERHE  RRY
TG BRRNBARREEZNEH - %
FHEEERMBFBREAYBRRIE AR
REETREN BT eHZETHEHES
MER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BET R =

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

EREEBETEEm

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition on construction contracts.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

We identified the recognition of construction revenue as
a key audit matter as they are quantitatively significant to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and there
are significant judgements exercised by the management
of the Group in determining the budgeted costs of each
contract and the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation and the amount of
construction revenue.

As disclosed in notes 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements, the construction revenue amounted
to HK$530,657,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Revenue from construction contract is recognised over the
period of the contract by measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation on
the basis of the actual costs incurred by the Group up to
the year-end date as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each project.

The total estimated costs are prepared by the internal
quantity surveyors with reference to cost structure
of the Group’s completed projects of similar size
and specifications, quotation from suppliers and
subcontractors and the latest actual costs incurred. The
progress for each project are reassessed by management
at each reporting date.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on
construction contracts included:

o Understanding the design and implementation
relating to recognition of construction contract
revenue and contract costs, and budget estimation
including budget control and approval, record of
direct and indirect construction costs, measurement
of percentage of completion and reconciliation with
the revenue recognised,;

o Performing retrospective review over the estimated
budget costs of projects, on a sample basis, by
comparing the estimations of costs to complete
contracts by comparing the costs incurred for
contracts completed in the current year to assess the
reliability of management’s budgeting process;

o Discussing with the project managers and the
management of the Group to understand the status
of the projects, identifying any variations, provision on
loss making contracts and obtaining explanations for
fluctuations in margins as to their reasonableness;

o Inspecting the construction contract agreements with
customers, on a sample basis, to identify key terms
and conditions, including contracting parties, contract
period, contract sum, scope of work and evaluating
whether these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated revenue;

o Testing over the cost incurred during the year ended
31 March 2025, on a sample basis, by inspecting to
relevant underlying supporting documents;

o Recalculating the percentage of completion to ensure
the accuracy of amount of revenue recognition.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1B % BET IR

EREEBETEEm

BPEFA TR NERETFARENZESQNHKRARER -

HEETER

BESHUNBARR

HRBZERRAHGAMBREAEENSEHELRE
K- BEXEEEEEETESNANNEERART
RBEITRE ERERE KRR A SRR AELEAHE -
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AR A B TS R M sk 4a) RS AT 1R B8 - Bl 2202543 A
318 IEFE - BEWA A530,657,0008 7T °
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

iR CE: S
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwok Si Ki.

OOP CPA & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Si Ki

Practising Certificate Number: P08411

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEERAR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025%3H31H 1 F/Z

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Revenue WA 5 530,657 585,170
Cost of services PR 75 B AR (528,535) (543,327)
Gross profit EX 2,122 41,843
Other income and gain EH Ao g A R Wz 6 83 102
Administrative expenses THHEX (22,519) (20,733)
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5K IE R
and contract assets AHEERERIE 29b(i) (33,573) (625)
Operating (loss)/profit ge (BR),RER (53,887) 20,587
Finance income TN 10 899 2,287
Finance costs B 75 Bk 2 10 (254) (114)
Financeincome,net  M#B¥AFE®m 645 2173
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHB XA
expense (F1#8) 5F 7 (53,242) 22,760
Income tax expense T8 fiF & 11 (229) (3,691)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive AR AEEAEBGEER
(expense)/income for the year (B8], EAR
attributable to owners of the 2mE X)), WAEE
Company (53,471) 19,069
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable ZARQATEEAEEESR
to owners of the Company (E8]) BF
Basic and diluted AR K8
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRRBENWZITR) 12 (5.3) 1.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R AR R

As at 31 March 2025 R2025%3/531H

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FABT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment % N iR A 14 2,393 3,808
Right-of-use assets (B A#EE E 15 331 827
Deposits e 17(b) = 184
2,724 4,819
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables 5 WG IE 17(a) 83,759 76,038
Contract assets EHNEE 18 208,398 214,508
Other receivables, deposits and H MW FIE - e &k
prepayments TETRIE 17(b) 5,011 4,758
Amount due from immediate holding AR P/NCIE ]
company 22 150 97
Tax recoverable A] Uy o] 7 18 2,256 2,497
Short-term bank deposit RHIRITIE R 19 = 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREEEYD 19 18,762 31,871
318,336 379,769
Total assets EEHAE 321,060 384,588
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of KAREBABIEESR
the Company
Share capital R& 7R 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves i 262,348 315,819
Total equity A 272,348 325,819
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AREBERR

As at 31 March 2025 R2025F3H31H

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T THT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEafE 23 = 370
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEAE 16 201 316
201 686
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables = NG 20 20,487 33,230
Accruals and other payables Bt E R MEMENFIE 20 17,228 21,821
Contract liabilities AHEaE 18 1,641 2,496
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 370 536
Bank borrowings RITIER 21 8,785 -
48,511 58,083
Totalliabiites L1 I w12 58769
Total equity and liabilities ERrEaEan 321,060 384,588

£120=203E M4R A ISR KT AEEZT 12025
FEeASAMETHIUATEERREE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 203 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2025 and were signed
on its behalf.

Chan Kiu Sum Chan Wing Ping

PREE A BRIk
Director Director
EEa EZE

BEFI M T BAR R SR A M B HRERN — 8D

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3/31H IF F/&E

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATFHEE AER
Share Share Retained
capital premium earnings Total
KA BRE SEEA et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT THET TET
(Note 24)
(Fi5E24)
Balance at 1 April 2023 P2023F4 1B &8 10,000 105,356 191,394 306,750
Profit and total comprehensive FEEHANEEHE WA RS
income for the year - - 19,069 19,069
Balance at 31 March 2024 M2024F3 A3 HR &8 10,000 105,356 210,463 325,819
Balance at 1 April 2024 R2024F4 VAWK 10,000 105,356 210,463 325,819
Loss and total comprehensive FEFBREEMAZAE
expense for the year - - (53,471) (53,471)
Balance at 31 March 2025 202543 A31 BRI & 8 10,000 105,356 156,992 272,348

48

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMIB T K2 S 42 & M EHMER N — 25 -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FREZAER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025%3H31H 1 F/Z

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATT

Cash flows from operating activities &EZFZEFEBRERE

Net cash used in operations KEEGHTAR 2% 27(a) (71,612) (2,878)
Income tax paid, net RS HFE (103) (7,566)
Net cash used in operating activities KERETARS FR (71,715) (10,444)

Cash flows from investing activities RETHBSRSRE

Purchase of plant and equipment BEWE MR 14 (273) (2,445)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HERE K& ETS A

equipment 6 38 -
Advance to immediate holding company [ EZ 5K A Al ZEE R (53) (32)
Finance income received 2 A 899 3,037
Withdrawal of short-term bank deposit IV BIR 1T 50,000 -
Net cash generated from investing RERHMBREFE

activities 50,611 560

Cash flows from financing activities @& FEFEBREKRE

Repayments of bank borrowings BiBiR1TER 27(b) = (5,634)
Payment for principal and interest of lease B E& &R R A X

liabilities 27(b) (568) (451)
Finance cost paid [RARREIE TN (222) (102)
Net cash used in financing activities | mARSMARSFE 99 (6187)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERELEEY

equivalents WA HEE (21,894) (16,071)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F¥)IR& MIREEEY

the year 31,871 47,942

Cash and cash equivalents atend of SFRRERBREZEY

the year 19 9,977 31,871
Cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEY 18,762 31,871
Bank overdraft RITEX (8,785) -

9,977 31,871

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMIsF K ZE G A P HEHRERO—BH -
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B #5 Bk B 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #tZ22025%3A31H I FJZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under Companies
Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are engaged in the provision of wet trades works to public or
private residential and commercial properties in Hong Kong and
construction works in Cambodia. The ultimate holding company
of the Company is Evolve Billion Limited (“Evolve Billion”). The
ultimate controlling shareholders of the Group are Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum (“Mr. KS Chan”) and Mr. Chan Wing Ping (“Mr. WP
Chan").

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (“HKSE”) on 10 October
2022.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
stated.

—REHR

GC Construction Holdings Limited ([ A< 2
711) 2020F4 A28 B R IEMAE RS (AR
FYEERT) RS HBEMA LA —HE
HMEAR AR o AR AIAFE M EE bt
/71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George Town,
Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands °

KRR A —HEEERART - AAEIRHE
WJ?E? Al (FEAIAEE ) RNEBHER
REFETERIEMHERMEKIE
&F?ﬁ%?ﬁé%LLIk NN FE0R =43
NRABEBERAT ([EE]) - A&
IZE—%W IR R AR AL £ ([FRB
FotE ) KBTS E ([BRKFRE]D -

ARATRIIED D R2022510 108 EE B
B X P ([BERR AT )) EfR L7 o

B BHAN GEPBRRATET
(TFBT) 25 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first

time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual

period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current year and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
- Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

128

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit
or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, as explained in the material
accounting policy information set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information
3.2.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

BRI MREEREKR

3 HREH
S BERER @

2 op

3.2 EREBFHBEEHR
21 ZREREEE
HREPTERRBIERARRUARAR
NA R EW B AR FTIEH BN
PHE - MEFEAUTER &
N A BVES 1 H

o AIHRIWETITEES

.« ESEBRRANNEFES
SRS T REE ¢

o BRNMEMEBNTZERE
EOHESHE -

HE= L= —EXZETER
HRES  AEEESIHMAGHE
ERHWRE T BEAIEDRE -

A S5 1 B 2 4R S
B IS I A AR A ABE - 307
7485 B 5 M T 20 A SR
BRI AR - AT S - R
W B S5 4 5 B 2 ) 2 M A 2 B
SR A B E HE F B
EARETBEHZHBARTZ
AL AGRA Hak B R E
W o

WMEFRE  WEBRFMNME®RE
SIEHAE  AEHESRERR
AEBENGHRE -

SERARRHE-—MEENEE
R WA XX RBRARE
B AR ZHE S RERE
BiRE R RBEH -

2024/25 S5} « GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
322 Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purpose. Plant
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of plant and
equipment to its estimated residual value over its
estimated useful life as follow:

— Office equipment and furniture 5 years
— Machinery 3 years
— Motor vehicles 3 years

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately.

Estimated residual values, estimated useful lives and
depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE IR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
323 Lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of
a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A B ISR AR A 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.3 Lease (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

—  the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

BRI 2 MREEREKR

3 HZREH
SEERER @

2 op

3.2 EREFHEER @)

323 & (@)

KEFEZRBA ()
FEREEE
FRAEEEKRABTE :

- HEARBENVHRESE

— R A HIs 2 AT SN AR
AAEFE - R E WA
EREMAESE

- AEEELNEAVBRER
g R

- AKBEREDMBEREESR
E - BREMES N REHE
EEEMEEHEEFRRMMG
AT E SRR R TR S B &
K 7R o

1 R E ER AR REHT
ENRERBRETE  ARIE
HERBNEMTELETHE -

ARG A TR A N B H T A R
AESHEEEEERAREZE
REAENRSG A=A ERFH
SERERTENE - KRt zsh - £/
REEREMGF A EAFHRE
EFMREE  NESETER
£ .

AEBERERREE AR
BiRRERMEBEA -

134 GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.3 Lease (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

— variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

— amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

—  the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

—  payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.3 Lease (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

—  thelease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

—  the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

— a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for
"lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

324 Impairment of plant and equipment and
rights-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

324 Impairment of plant and equipment and
rights-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
values of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating and recognising
interest income and interest expense in profit or loss
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts or payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented under other
income, gains and losses, net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

0}

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost and
effective interest method

Financial assets are recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.5 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from

the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.5 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank loan are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at amortised costs. All financial
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

HEBRRZEBEEEREKR
SR E R @

=
=r
=

2 op

3.2 EREFHEER @)

32528 TR (@)
EHEEREZR
DEREBRES
B s TADRIEA QL H
MARAREREEREES TR
MEENBATHMABEIER -

EHTHE

Bm T ENEREREENTR
HAprEaE® 2 R 2T
BH - ARBEITZHESETAN
BB R EMBREERITRA
B2 SERER -

THEE
AR A EEREBERANE
EIR B ERNGTE o

BRBHERATENEREE

TRENERAB(BRES R
HAh B RAEMRITER) Hi&
PR B PR B SROK 9% B 5 X AR AT

=
E-

BHRREMEE

AEERAEREETERR
BOHSEmRBUEER /M E
B BUHERZERABZRE
ERENRENRER 2 Z8N

R R -

TRAERTRERRDELR
BERANIRNERAE TR
TRAENHEAHELHGRE
BERERZRATER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 on financial
assets (including trade receivables, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables, amount due from
immediate holding company and cash and cash
equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivable and contract assets without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

3 HREVBBRRZFEREEREK
S BERER @

3.2 EREFHEER @)

326 EERE

AEBRBEEEVHREEFR
9?&%@%%&%?(@%%%%H&m

BHEE - ?ﬁé&ﬁi@ﬁﬂﬁl
IE FE U B B HR AR RISRIA A
&fﬁfﬁ)&fﬁfi\ ﬁ’;%)Lﬁ/UME
AHE - AR REMEEER
(FEHEEERD B - BHE
EREReBENEREAHESN -
DA BR B WA R DA SRAE B L2
ML o

EHEREEEBRENERETA
ZEFTFHAMAREELEZE
WEMBEEZTRBEER
Be-Rz R2EABRBEEREE
(M2ERARHEEEE]) R
R E IR R 1218 A AT aE 3£
ZEANEHMSEE 22
BHEEREE - SHE IR AEE
BEEEBBRERET LR
BEHA ~ BREBEMNARE R
HEBHZERER R Z R
KERMEFTE A B2
ERRFELFHE -

REBIREREEAREK D
BHREFARGNEERRE
HiRHEEEE - ZSEENE
HEEEBEREREEANRE
MEHAETERNE  XEM
EEAR BRI TT R
ftr o

MAABEMTAME - NEEF
EZEBEEBERSN2EAES
EEER  BRIFBMLRALE
BERRBEEEN  AEEERR
HITEHEEEE - YR EEHR
2HEMEEEE  BREFME
AR AV EREEEENZA
BE 1M Bk fea K B A0 o

2024/25 S5} « GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

—  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

—  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped based on:

—  Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group'’s trade receivables together with
contract assets and deposits and other
receivables are each assessed as a separate
group);

—  Past-due status;

—  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
327 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

3.2.8 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.8 Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE IR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z2025%3A31H 1 FZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
3.2.8 Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3.2.9 Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when”control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.9 Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

Overtime revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for services rendered in the
normal course of business.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services,
the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling
prices are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus a margin or adjusted
market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the good or service is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the good or service
may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good or service is transferred over time
if the Group's performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

e  creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.9 Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

Overtime revenue recognition (continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.
Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are
described below.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

e  direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation relative to the
total expected efforts or inputs.

(i) Revenue from provision of wet trades
works and construction works
Revenue from provision of wet trades works
is recognised over time as the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset or
work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The Group
has applied the input method in recognising the
revenue from construction contracts over time
by reference to the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction on a performance obligation (for
example, subcontracting fees, cost of materials
and toolings) relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.9 Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

Overtime revenue recognition (continued)

0}

Revenue from provision of wet trades
works and construction works (continued)
The payment terms differed for different
customers due to the variety of projects. Most
of the payment is payable according to the
stage of construction with credit term of 14-60
days. 5% of the contract price is recognised as
retention receivables, which would be paid after
the retention period expires. The Group does not
intend to give financing to customers and the
Group makes efforts to collect the receivables
and timely monitor the credit risk.

For construction contracts with fixed price, the
Group recognises the revenue in accordance
with the contract price on the basis of the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
a performance obligation. The Group considers
the input method better depicts the Group’s
performance in transferring control of services to
its customers.

The Group accounts for a modification if the
customers to a contract approve a change in the
scope and/or the price of a contract. A contract
modification is approved when the modification
creates or changes the enforceable rights and
obligations of the customers to the contract. If
the customers have approved a change in scope
but have not yet determined the corresponding
change in price, the Group estimates the change
to the contract price as a variable consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2.9 Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)
Overtime revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Revenue from provision of wet trades
works and construction works (continued)
For construction contracts that contain variable
consideration such as variations in contract
work, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using
the expected value method. The estimated
amount of variable consideration is included in
the construction contract only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully
the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

3.2.10 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration from customers in exchange for
the provision of wet trades works that the Group
has transferred to the customers that is not yet
unconditional. Contract assets arise when the Group
has provided the wet trades works and other wet
trades related ancillary works under the relevant
contracts but the works have yet to be certified by
architects, quantity surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers and/or the Group’s right
to payment is still conditional on factors other than
passage of time. Any amount previously recognised as
a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at
the point when the Group’s right to payment becomes
unconditional other than passage of time.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

FENBRBRZEREEREK
S BEREm®

3.2 EREFHEER @)

329K EEFEF LAWK 2 (%)

BERFRIFEZZ KA (#)
() BERKIBRESEIRY
WA ()

HREEAEREMAEYH
TRENE) MEERLD

AEEFEREREEEMG
HARBBWRESRE -2
RE B R SR EARRE A T
TERRERERR BT
BT ARKRE TN EEHEKR
WARE LR - A2 ERNG
SRR ARESD -

REREHR - AEEEH
B RS E(BRBREREY
ERFAIERERERRHZ
Al MEERBRRES
HRTFERIE R RN & B
LS

NEHNEERSHER

BHEERRALEBEFRERE
FXHRE  UBRRAEEEE
BTFEPMmMEAKAEEENR
K TIRMIE - EANEBIR AR
A XA TR IR RE M JEKIE
FRCETRR  BIREMARHEE
B TRUIEMSEFZAMHE
R RRBER - & HEAREE
B SRAE R A B &= (BB
BUINEZ BBEIEER 64
BENESE - ERLHERAS
HEEN TR ANEB U EUT R

RO I A R B (BRI 4
BN EFDEEE 5 EURR

17 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3210 Contract assets and contract liabilities

(continued)

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered
into with customers, the Group is required to submit
to customers payment applications for the value
of work done under the contracts along with any
variation orders performed. Customers will settle
normally in 14-60 days after certifying the monthly
payment applications based on their assessment of
work done by the Group. Customers usually retain
an amount up to 10% of the value of work done,
subject to a maximum limit of 5% of the contract sum
as retention money for the contract. The terms and
conditions in relation to the release of retention vary
from contract to contract, which is subject to practical
completion, the expiry of the defect liability period
and the discussion of final accounts.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the
same approach adopted for impairment assessment
of financial assets carried at amortised cost.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

3211 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
3212 Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees.

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme") under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised by the
Group to reduce existing level of contributions for
each of the years.

Long service payments

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong who
have completed the required number of years of
services to the Group are eligible for long service
payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of the termination of their
employment, provided that such termination meets
the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance.

A provision is recognised in respect of the probable
future long service payments expected to be made.
The provision is based on the best estimate of the
probable future payments which have been earned by
the employees from their services to the Group up to
the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL g
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

=
st

KRR 2EHEEREK
REH @

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EXEHEER@®

(continued)
3213 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

3214 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

3215 Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3215 Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly-controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to a parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 4“4 BEHRERZEGFREEREK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL S BEER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

3.2 EREFHEER @)

3216 Segment reporting 3216 7 EBE &
Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent EDFRTI AR M = ZEBRE
with the internal reporting provided to the chief ERXABHRE BT HFAZ

operating decision-maker. The chief operating e BENEBERETHEED
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating MERRNTELEERLERER
resources and assessing performance of the operating TEH RS R E RS BRI TE
segments, has been identified as the executive FHo

directors of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 E A&t {hstRk ¥4
AND JUDGEMENTS
In the adoption of the Group's accounting policies, the directors RERMAEBEN SRR E2ARE
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions BREHAMIRRESESEZEERABE

RREEE L AE - EE R &R -

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources.

EEt MEBERRDERNBELR IR R
BRZEMAREN - BEFREEATREA R

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

162

relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the year of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IF R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, other key sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

(a) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue according to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation
of the individual contract of wet trade works and
construction works. The progress is determined by the
aggregated cost for the individual performance obligation
incurred at the end of the reporting period compared with
the estimated budgeted cost. Management's estimation
of the cost incurred to date and the budgeted cost is
primarily based on construction contract budget and actual
cost report prepared by internal quantity surveyors, where
applicable. Corresponding revenue from contract work is
also estimated by management based on the progress and
estimated revenue which contains variable consideration.
Because of the nature of the activities undertaken in the
construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation
of both transaction price and contract cost in the budget
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses.

Judgement is required in estimating the total contract costs
which may have an impact on percentage of completion
of the construction contracts and profit to be recognised
in an accounting period. In addition, actual outcome in
terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower than
estimation at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in note
29(b)(i).

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

The executive directors are identified as the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM") of the Group who review the
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

The Group's revenue is derived from provision of wet trades

works in Hong Kong and construction works in Cambodia. There
is only one operating segment for the Group under HKFRS 8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSHER @
Revenue (a) WA
Year ended 31 March
HZE3AZMBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Wet trades work YEIK TH2 508,479 585,170
Construction work TR 22,178 -
530,657 585,170

(b)

All of the Group's revenue is recognised over time.

Revenue from major customers

Revenue individually generated from the following
customers contributed more than 10% of the total

revenue of the Group:

Customer 1
Customer 2
Customer 3
Customer 4
Customer 5

=)
=2
=3
B4
=5

(b)

REBE A NRABR — B R E

27
o ©

REEEFFHRBA

WTERFEREEHRAANERR
WA B ER10%A F

Year ended 31 March

HZE3H831BLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
69,909 113,510
61,131 N/AZR 8 A *
59,464 89,103
N/AT3E A * 87,826
N/AT3E A * 84,283

* Represent less than 10% of revenue for the respective year.

Geographical information

During the year ended 31 March 2025, over 95% (2024:
all) the Group's revenue are the from external customers

located in Hong Kong.

* EERESEFENKANI0S o

HEEE
BE2025F3ANALEFE  AEE
W BiE95% (2024%F : 270) %K B
IR EENINBES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDIEE @

(continued)

() Segment assets and liabilities (c) "HPEERAEE
The Group monitors its total assets and liabilities centrally AEERE-KENIEPEREE
in one single operating segment. All of the Group’s ErBE -MmMEFEAN  XEEME
non-current assets are located in Hong Kong for both IMEBEEAMURES
years.

(d) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (d MENEBEIHWA
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised related TRINTHAHE SN BERRIWA -

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31BILEE
2025 2024

20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

Revenue recognised that was included FFAFVIE N BELEHBHE
in the contract liability balance at the  #ERRULA
beginning of the year

— Wet trades works — JeKIIE 2,398 3,076
(e) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (e) ?EHEFHRBHNEXINRZE
performance obligations %
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRINTRIBRESHMEENRE
obligations resulting from long-term construction TRAERE-
contracts.

As at 31 March
M3H31AH

2025

20254
HK$"000
FET

Aggregate amount of the transaction RERDEERBITRE

price allocated to long-term BESONXZERERE
construction contracts that are
unsatisfied as at year ended 343,290

2024
20245

HK$'000

THETT

564,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDIEE @

(continued)

(e)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining (e) ?7HMEFIBRBHNETINRZE
performance obligations (continued) -3C )

Management expects that the transaction prices regarding EREEHN  RNERBERETELN
the unsatisfied contracts at the end of year will be HRZSERESEUATRERERS
recognised as revenue by referencing to the schedule L NE

below:

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Within 1 year 1F R 179,541 481,413
Over 1 year Bid1F 163,749 83,413
343,290 564,826
6 OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6 Httg ARz
Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHTT

Youth Employment and Training FEMELIFIEE

Programme (Note a) (Kt5Ea) 21 102
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment & B E K& & U 38 -
Other HAh 24 -
83 102

Note: B3 -

(@) Amount represents wage subsidy granted under Youth () ZemERESFREREIFHE(EF
Employment and Training Programme (“YETP"). Funds are BLERIFINEEL) ey TE =R - R
granted to the Group for employing trainees under the YETP. The EEEFERS FREREIFENZ
Group is entitled to HK$1,500 salary allowance per month for ANB - REBEEMRBER—ZIIIAE
each trainee employed (2024: same). 4 A 7] <E HX1,50078 JT /) 7 & B (2024

F:AR) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A B ISR AR A 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

7 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 KRAEHBEXZA (HEB) 55

EXPENSE

The Group's (loss)/profit before income
tax expense is arrived before charging:

Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ remuneration) (Note 8)

Auditor’s remuneration — audit services

Depreciation of plant and equipment
(Note 14)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 15)

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HILEE

2025

20254
HK$’000
FET

765 [ RO BR AT 15 B0 S A
(&18) s F =TGR
UTEBEZAERHN

EEBIHAX (BREFTHE)

(FF3E8) 43,327
ZEEINE — TR RS 980
W= R E

(Mf5E14) 1,688
FRAREENE

(M5E15) 496

2024
20244F
HK$'000
T

36,103
1,700

1,750

493

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8 EEEFRXX(EBREZML)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other welfare

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HILLEE

2025

pliyL33
HK$’000
FHET

¥e o IE I kEAM

2024
20244F
HK$'000
T T

and allowances & ) B2 2 B 42,393 34,862
Pension costs — defined contribution plan  3RR & AR — F 58 5T 2 934 1,241
43,327 36,103

Representing: BIE
Cost of services ARG A A 32,345 25,490
Administrative expenses THFEX 10,982 10,613
43,327 36,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

9

The remuneration of each director paid/payable for each
of the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 were set out

below:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

EEENRAZ
(a) EEM <
H E2025%F K202453A31H ILFE

EF BN/ ENSESHHETI W
T

HZ2025F3831HILFE

Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
2R EXmEHR
ESi He #é R4 BENEHN BAGEER FH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THEL T T T T
Executive director and chief ~ #77TEZZ&57TH
executive: AE:
Mr. KS Chan BEHREE - 3224 315 - - 3,539
Executive directors: HiEE
Mr. WP Chan Bk FEE - 1,014 162 - 18 1,194
Ms. Chan Chui Ying BRER/ME - 567 37 - 18 622
Independent non-executive B FE7TEE -
directors:
Dr. Huang Hong BT 140 - - - - 140
Mr. Yu Chi Wing THREE 140 - - - - 140
Dr. Lo i Chiu BEHEL 140 - - - - 140
Dr. Luk Che Chung, » BEBEL  trur 180 = = = = 180
Total it 600 4,805 514 - 36 5,955
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEFEF R A @)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEME w0
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE2024F3A31HILFE

Employer's
contribution

toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit

Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
28k EXEER

EShS e e BB EA EWRER BAGEIGT @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET TET

Executive director and chief ~ £177EE# RS/ 7H

executive: AB:
Mr. KS Chan RERLLE - 2,898 522 - 5 3,425
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. WP Chan RkFEE - 888 204 - 18 1,110
Ms. Chan Chui Ying (Note a)  FRZ Z/ME (Hiita) - 83 - - 3 86
Independent non-executive BV FHTEE -
directors:
Dr. Huang Hong BT 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Yu Chi Wing THREE 180 - - - - 180
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EXsIEL 180 - - - - 180
Dr. Luk Che Chung, »» BEEREL  trar
(Note a) UED) 30 - - - - 30
Total @st 570 3,869 726 - 26 5,191
Note: B 5
(@) Appointed on 5 February 2024. (@) F2024F2ASHEZRAE -
The remunerations shown above represent remunerations L MIEZEEE A EREAEH
received from the Group by these directors in their capacity EEFHBEARKRERIRAOEFM - HAR
as employees to the Group and no directors waived any FRIEEENETAME (20245 -
emoluments during the year (2024 Nil). ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE IR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z2025%3A31H 1 FZ

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEFEFEFIZH @

(continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Directors’ termination benefits
No payment was made to the directors as compensation

for the early termination of the appointment during the
year (2024: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of the
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Group during the year (2024: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2024: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in Note 26, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which directors of the Group had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of each
of the four years or at any time during the year (2024: Nil).

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

ESRBEN

RAFEE  HERES N EMKIEA
TERIR R - R ER#E (2024%F -
) -

MM EEREOE=F X
HRE

RAFEE  BMERAEESHAITRERES
MEMRE SHEUREFEEEH
FD IR IRTE (20244 : &) -

FBUES -BAEBESES
HEEREEFEECEESR
EmAZER BERRHA
R 2EHR

REAFE HENEE HARES
BRI R EEERECERR
RBEAZER BEFREMRS
(2024%F : &) -

EENRS - ZHHEHNHH
BARERS

B sE26 T EE N ANEBE R E
FIVEAEEESEBEAAERES
REPBEEEEREEEAERS 2R
VYR 4F & = G R s A F 5 AL el B
MIATFENEARS THEREYD
(2024%F : 4®) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9

(continued)

(f) Five highest paid individuals
For each of the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include the two (2024: two) directors, whose
emoluments were reflected in Note 9(a). The emoluments
paid to the remaining three (2024: three) individuals are as
follows:

EEEANRAZE @

f) TEBREFMAL
B 220254 20243 A31H L FE
EFE AEBONARESFMHALT
SR FE2E (20244 - 2%) &%
BEZ NS R 9@ XM - #2 3%
(20244 : 3%) ATHBIE D RIZAT

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MHLLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Salaries, wages HekIH& 1,641 1,801
Bonuses 64T 738 220

Pension costs — defined contribution — iRAR &AL — TE B k52

plan 53 54
2,432 2,075
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEFEF R A @)

(continued)

(f) Five highest paid individuals (continued) f) ABESHEMA LT @
The emoluments of above individuals are within the Fit AEHBNE YRR AT EE -

following bands:

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLEE
2025 2024
20254 202445
Emoluments band & # [
Within HK$ 1,000,000 1K 721,000,000/ 7T 3 3
No incentive payment for joining the Group or RAFE  BERTARAZ RS M
compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to any AT N HEARBEANAREE
of the five highest paid individuals during the year (2024: B RS B E (20245 : &) o
Nil).
10 FINANCE INCOME, NET 10 BA ISR AR 8
Year ended 31 March
HBZ3A31BLLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Finance income: R ONE
— Interest income from bank deposit — R B IRITEREF B UL A 899 2,287
Finance costs: BE TS AN
— Interest expense on borrowings —fEROF B (222) (102)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities —HEAENMEMX
(Note 23) (MH7523) (32) (12)
________________________________________________________________________________________ @59  (114)
Finance income, net B 5 I N 58 645 2,173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

174

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FREBBAX
Year ended 31 March
BZE3AMBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax BN ERR 18
Hong Kong 5 - 3,693
Cambodia ESES 405 -
(Over)/underprovision in prior year F—FE (BEEE) S BETR
Hong Kong 5 (61) 2
Deferred tax (Note 16) FEEFTE (FFsE16)
Credit for the year FRNER (115) )
229 3,691

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and the
BVI-incorporated subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax
in the Cayman Islands and the BVI (2024: same).

The Group'’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject
to Hong Kong profits tax. Hong Kong profits tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits during the year
(2024: 16.5%), except for one entity that is qualified under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, under which the first HK$2.0
million of its assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

One subsidiary incorporated in Cambodia is subject to
Cambodia profit tax at 20% of the estimated assessable profits
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

1"

FREHAX @

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HILLEE
2025 2024
20244F
HK$'000

THETT

20255
HK$"000
FET

(Loss)/profit before income tax BrETERLAT (E518) 5 F (53,242) 22,760
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REAREE RN ZFEARE

applicable to profits in Hong Kong SEBIE (8,785) 3,590
Tax effects of: NTREZREZE -
Income not subject to tax BARBUMA (312) -
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7~ A] 1 FE B 2 5,666 99
(Over)/under-provision in prior year BEFE (GBRERE) BETR (61) 2
Tax losses not recognised RERTIEEE 3,649 -
Different tax rates of subsidiary EHEMBEE R & 8RB

operating in other jurisdiction NGIE SRR 72 -
Income tax expense PSRRI 32 229 3,691

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 B8R (&8 &F

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/

profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

FRER (BER) BNTEARFEES A
FEIE (B18) e fBR AR FEEB#ITERA
B niEF B H -

Year ended 31 March

BE3A31MBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the KA G A ARG
Company (HK$'000) (BB &5F (F%&T) (53,471) 19,069
Weighted average number of ordinary BT RRME TS (TR)
shares in issue ("000) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BRER(EER) /BF (B)
(in HK cents) (5.3) 1.9

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2025 were the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share as
there was no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the year (2024: same).

13 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the
year (2024: Nil).

13

HE2025F3A3HIEFEMNTRESE (B
1B),/ BFESREAR (B18) ZBFHER
TR FERTEETEIINE S BEL R
f% (20244 : }8R) °

R E
RAREE » AR R EIR NS IR
B (20245 : 48#) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 BERFZE

176

Office
equipment
and Motor
furniture Machinery vehicles Total
BAREBEREE B AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT TAT FAET
At 1 April 2023 R202354818
Cost XA 881 6,222 1,521 8,624
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (710) (3,766) (1,035) (5,511)
Net book amount REHE 171 2,456 486 3,113
Year ended 31 March 2024 B Z2024F3831HILFE
Opening net book amount FNEmFE 171 2,456 486 3,113
Addition for the year FRRE 6 967 1,472 2,445
Depreciation charge (Note 7) TESH (FE7) (60) (1,211) 479) (1,750)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 117 2,212 1,479 3,808
At 31 March 2024 and R2024538318 &
1 April 2024 202454818
Cost PR A 887 7,189 2,993 11,069
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (770) (4,977) (1,514) (7,261)
Net book amount RHEHE 17 2,212 1,479 3,808
Year ended 31 March 2025 BZ2025%F3A310 LFE
Opening net book amount FUEmFE 17 2,212 1,479 3,808
Addition for the year FRRE 20 253 - 273
Disposal for the year FRHE - - (662) (662)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) TESH (HE7) (56) (1,133) (499) (1,688)
Eliminated on disposal HE 2 - - 662 662
Closing net book amount FREEEE 81 1,332 980 2,393
At 31 March 2025 R2025%38318
Cost XA 907 7,482 2,369 10,718
Accumulated depreciation ZHTE (826) (6,110) (1,389) (8,325)
Net book amount REFE 81 1,332 930 2,393
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14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation of the Group’s plant and equipment are

recognised as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

14 BERRZRE@®
AREBRE MRETE TR T

Year ended 31 March

BE3A31MBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHEx T T
Cost of services BRAG A AN 1,133 1,211
Administrative expenses THHAX 555 539
Depreciation charge for the year FRNFEEBR 1,688 1,750
15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15 FRHEEE
Leased
premises
HEWE
HK$'000
FET
At 31 March 2024 7202453 A31H
Carrying amount ERTEIE 827
At 31 March 2025 202553 H31H
Carrying amount REE 331
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E2024F3A31HLFE
Depreciation charge (Note 7) FrEX I (FEE7) 493
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025F3A31HLLFE
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WELE (WE7) 496
Year ended 31 March
M3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBR SR 568 451
Additions to right-of-use assets AEFRAEEE - 992
Expense relating to short-term leases HGHAER BN 1,957 2,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A B ISR AR A 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leased premises under lease arrangements for 2
years (2024: 2 years). They are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

16 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax recoverable
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred
tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances
on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities, net

BEXERBRE  F8R

15 FREEEm
EREEEEAEERERETHRME
(2024%F - W) M1 FRABRET B L miE
Mo ZEFEREEENRKAREINE
K 2R EE B -

16 EEHEEE
¥ 15 4 T A 38 1 $A 1T 48 R §5 T U (3] B0 B R
B BT SR B BN R BRI
BERAELR—HEEERZEIHE
BN R WA AU RS R R B
EETEE R FEREL B ERE - A
WEEHBAESREE EHSBEMT -

As at 31 March
M3H31H
2025

2024
20245
HK$'000
T T

20254
HK$’000
FET

201 316

The movements in deferred tax liabilities, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction, are as follows:

ARG RERR AR AEHESES R
EREAENESHNT

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

MERBIBRE

HK$'000

T T

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 320
Credited to the consolidated statement of FFALZAEEZEmRAK (FIEE11)

comprehensive income (Note 11) 4)

At 31 March 2024 T 202453 A31H 316

At 1 April 2024 M20245F471H 316

Credited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (Note 11)

AR EZEBAR (HFE1)

(115)

At 31 March 2025

7 202553 A31H 201

As at 31 March 2025, there is no significant unrecognised
deferred tax for the Group (2024: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$21,869,000 (2024: HK$Nil)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(a) Trade receivables

16 EERBIEEE @
RBEIR  AEBEHREAREREL
21,869,000 7T (20244 : T jT) A] A {E
HEEH AR AR FI o FR R R TR R SR 2R 5 ) 2R
B MW ERERECHEEE -

17 EZREMERRE
(a) EZEWRKE

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Trade receivables Z S rEW A 89,368 76,919
Less: allowances for credit losses B E B kRS (5,609) (881)
Trade receivables, net 5 W IR F R 83,759 76,038

The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on
invoice date is as follows:

BHRWKIREBIRERAMESZ
FRECDITEAT -

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30BW 49,719 40,799
31-60 days 31260H 15,915 20,304
Over 60 days 608 A £ 23,734 15,816
89,368 76,919

The credit terms provided to customers range from 14 days
to 60 days. The Group's trade receivables are denominated
in HK$ (2024: same).

Details of impairment assessment on trade receivables is
set out in Note 29(b)(i).

REFEFNEESHN TF14 HZE60
B> AEBNEZRUNRBETIABT
sHE (20244 : FAR) °

B 5 R WGRRE R A IR BN MY i
29(b)i) ©

2024/25 “FHY « GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 17 ESREMBEWREIE @

(b) Other receivables, deposits and (b) EtEWFE - ZERANRK
prepayments 15

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Prepayments for wet trades works e T2 FB A IE 23 70
Other prepayments Hh T8 FRIE 82 200
Other receivables (Note) H th JE Wk E (Bt 3E) 3,326 2,899
Interest income receivables JE W ) B A - 183
Deposits 2e 1,580 1,590
5,011 4,942
Less: Non-current deposits R IERERE - (184)
Current portion RENEL S 5,011 4,758
Note: The balance mainly represented advance payment paid out M AREERRNEERTEEHRE
by the Group in relation to the claims from work accidents SANHTENRIE - BRI AE BRI
which is expected to be recovered by the Group from the HE R R P B N B 4 7 22 P ) 22 HF LA
main contractors under the relevant insurance policy and AT B P 8 gAY E (2024
arrangements with the main contractors as well as industry F MR -

practice (2024: same).

The Group’s other receivables and deposits are TREE W) E b YR IE R IR S T LA
denominated in HK$ (2024: same). None of the other TLEHE (20244 : 4BRE) - BHEE M E
receivables and deposits was impaired. W 2 T8 K 454 BE R (E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 S EERANER
LIABILITIES

Included in contract assets/(liabilities) are the following:

AARREE () 0T

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Contract assets EHEE
Unbilled revenue FNEES N 146,554 125,121
Retention receivables (Note c) FEBUREE & (MfsEc) 91,252 89,950
Total contract assets BHEERLE 237,806 215,071
Less: allowances for credit losses B ERIBREE (29,408) (563)
Contract assets, net EHEBEEFE 208,398 214,508
Contract liabilities EHEE (1,641) (2,496)
Notes: PREE
(@)  The Group classifies these contract assets and liabilities as current @ AEBEBZZEHNEERABBEIEAR
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating ) AAAREBEETEESELREBA
cycle. HEE B o

(b)  The settlement analysis of unbilled revenue and contract liabilities (b) FARBARENBERBEEBHREES
based on project cycle was as follows: T

As at 31 March

A3H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT
Unbilled revenue: ENGESONE
To be recovered within twelve months R+ @Az Rk E 146,554 125,121
Contract liabilities: ERAalE
To be recognised within twelve months B+ @B 2 WFER (1,641) (2,496)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

18 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18 64X EEREHNEREm@m

182

LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Retention receivables are settled in accordance with the terms of
the respective contracts. The terms and conditions in relation to
the release of retention vary from contract to contract, which is
subject to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability
period or a pre-agreed time period. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, retention receivables were classified as
current assets based on its normal operating cycle. The settlement
analysis of these retention receivables based on the terms of
related contracts was as follows:

B AE - (4D

© RURZESRESBAOERTIAEE -
BHRRESOEARGHERFEEH(H
RIBEPR T - BRPE B EHIE R T8 e 4
MmE) MA TR - RiFa WKL
FoRERESEREREERANER
RBEE - EREEANRTNZ SRR
RESBHEDWWT :

As at 31 March

M3HA31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET Tt
To be recovered within twelve months B+ =& A Ak E 54,291 41,891
To be recovered more than twelve months BRERE+ @A
after the end of the year A U] 36,961 48,059
91,252 89,950
Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities EHNEEREBENEXRED

Contract assets have increased as the Group has provided
more construction services ahead of the right to payment upon
receiving certification from quality surveyors for construction
contracts. The Group also applied the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
contract assets.

Contract liabilities for the construction contracts decreased
(2024 decreased) due to the decrease (2024: decrease) in
receipt in advance on overall contract activities.

Details of impairment assessment on contract assets is set out in
Note 29(b)(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSIT

19 BERBSEEBYUREHRT

(2

As at 31 March

M3H31A

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances We NIRRT 18,762 31,871

Short-term bank deposit (Note) RHERITE R (W) = 50,000

Bank overdraft (Note 21) R1TIB S (HaE21) (8,785) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the meaRenegrPHRe Rk

consolidated statements of cash flows BEEEY 9,977 81,871

Maximum exposure to credit risk FIgEmNEaEERR 18,762 81,841

Note: Interest rates of short-term bank deposit are approximately
4.36% per annum in 2024.

All cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposit are
denominated in HK$ (2024: same).

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, bank deposit with original maturities of three months or
less net of bank overdraft.

M 2024F EHIRTERNEMNEN AR
4.36% °

FERSMESSEYUREHEITER
Ty LA TeHE (20244 « #HE]) -

EGaRERERT REMRSFEDY
BREFHERS  FRRTVBNER R
ABIH A A= (B A KE RO RITFFORR
T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 ES REMEBNRIR
As at 31 March
MA3A31H
2025 2024
2025% 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Trade payables Z 5 R HIE 20,487 33,230
Accruals and other payables FEErE R R E A BN A
— Accruals for subcontractors’ labour cost —EEr D EES TR 13,005 16,282
— Accrued staff cost —EEFB IR A 2,224 2,766
— Other accruals and payables —EMEE & A RENRIE 1,999 2,773
e 17,228 21,821
37,715 55,051
The trade and other payables are denominated in HK$ and the B REMBAREBEAETIE  BE
carrying amounts approximate their fair values (2024: same). EERE N FERE (20245 : HRA) -
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date B 5 RNFIAREER A BNKRE 20
is as follows: I

As at 31 March
M3H31H

2025 2024

20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAETT

Within 30 days 308 20,487 33,230
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21 BANK BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

21 SRITHER

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FH&IT
Current, secured BUHR - HIKH
- Bank overdraft —RITEX 8,785 -

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group obtained
overdraft facility amounted to HK$15,000,000 (2024:
HK$15,000,000) guaranteed by corporate guarantee of the
Company.

The bank overdraft are denominated in HK$ and bear interest at
floating rates that are market dependent.

The table below analyses the bank overdraft of the Group into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the year end to the contractual maturity date without taking
into consideration the effect of repayment on demand clause.

Bank overdraft repayable: HIBRITES
Within one year —F R

H E20254F3A31H IEFE  AEBEE
15,000,0007% 7T (20244 : 15,000,000/
T ZBNEE  WHAR RN ARERE
PR o

RITETIABTTRHE IR TS RER
FEM KGR -

TERFERBTHHEANIHEAEH
AR B AR D RITES DT
EHRYES RRBEBRERGEKOTE -

As at 31 March
M3H31H

2025 2024

20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T

8,785 -

The carrying amounts of the bank overdraft approximate their
fair values. As at 31 March 2025, the weighted average interest
rates are 4.93% per annum.

The Group has the following undrawn bank facilities consisting
of bank overdrafts and revolving loan:

FBFE

Floating rate

SRITELBREERENFERE - 12025
F3A318  IEFEHFFEFL93% °

AEBARERVRITRE (BRERITEXR
BREFOWT

As at 31 March
M3A31H

2025 2024

20255 ployli==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T THT

6,215 15,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

22 AMOUNT DUE FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING 22 FEUN B B A\ B =8

COMPANY
The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on FZREAEEMR  PRERIZERERE -
demand.
23 LEASE LIABILITIES 23 HEAE
As at 31 March
MA3A31A
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEHEEE:
Within one year —F R 370 536
Within a period of more than one year Bl —FEIBBME
but not exceeding two years Z HARA - 370
370 906
Less: Amount due for settlement with W mENBE T ATR121E A
12 months shown under current WNEIBR&E E /508
liabilities (370) (536)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ 3ERBNE (& T Ao 121E A £
shown under non-current liabilities EH S E IR - 370
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to ERANEE B ENINE TS EFAX
lease liabilities is 4.3% (2024: 4.3%). 54.3% (2024%F : 4.3%) °
24 SHARE CAPITAL, CAPITAL RESERVE AND 24 R - BRA#ERFE
RESERVES
Share capital (&N

Equivalent

Number of nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares share

=EBER

EBER#E EEZE
HK$'000

THET

Authorised ordinary shares of HK$0.01 A E&EREE0.0158TH

each: LER
Balance at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 120234818 - 20244
31 March 2025 3A318 Kk2025%3A31H
B 48R 10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: B2 {TEREE0.01EBTH

ZER
=]
Balance at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and  A2023%F4H1H -~ 20244
31 March 2025 38318 }&202543A318
K 45 R 1,000,000,000 10,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

25 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the subsidiaries held directly or indirectly

by the Company at 31 March 2025 and 2024:

Name of subsidiaries

HELEAE

Direct Interests
ERES
Ying Ying Company Limited

Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited
BB RA A

GC Cambodia Limited (Note a)

GC Cambodia Limited (¥fFa)

Indirect Interests

BiEER

Chan Kiu Construction Decoration
Engineering Limited

BRBEERKEMHTRE
BRAA

Ying Wai (Chan Kiu) Construction
Engineering Co., Limited

B (RI5) BERK
TERERADA

Place of incorporation/

establishment,
operations and type
of legal entity

AR R - B
wHEREEERER

The BVI, limited liability
company

RBRLES  BRAF

The BVI, limited liability
company

EBEZHES  ARAA

The BVI, limited liability
company

EBEZHE  ARAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EBE BRRQA
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BB ARRAA

25 B AT 2R
LA A2 A B 720254 2202463 A31H
ERgEEEENNBARAE

Issued and

fully paid up

capital
ERTR
BRRA

United States
Dollars

(ll US$ H)
1,000
1,000% 7T
(E))
US$1,000
1,000% 7T
US$50,000

50,0003 7T

HK$10

1078 7T

HK$10

1078 7T

Attributable

equity interest
to the Group

Principal
activities

FEEEERE

2025
20255

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2024
20244

100%  Investment

holding

REEK

100% Investment
holding

BEER

100%  Investment
holding

REER

Provision of wet
trades works in
Hong Kong

REBRMETEK
T

100%

Provision of wet
trades works in
Hong Kong

REBRMETEK
T

100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

25 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25 B AT 2R @

Place of incorporation/
establishment, Issued and
operations and type fully paid up
Name of subsidiaries of legal entity capital

HMA, R EE ERITR
KEAREE wHEAEERER BRBA

Attributable
equity interest Principal
to the Group activities

REEPELRAE
2025 2024
20255 20244

100% - Notyet
commenced
business

CENGIEES

100% - Provision of
construction
works in
Cambodia

MR RR M
BiETIE

100% - Investment
holding

RARR

GC Wet Trade Limited (Note b) Hong Kong, limited liability HK$10,000
company
GC Wet Trade Limited (PFi{5Eb) B4 BRAF 10,000/ 7T
GC Wet Trade Co., Ltd. (Note b) Cambodia, limited liability US$200
company
GC Wet Trade Co., Ltd. (Fii5Eb) RIEFE - BRATE 2003 T
GC Production International Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1
Limited (Note b) company
GC Production International BB BRAF 178 7T
Limited (Fif5Eb)
Notes: B 5T -
(@ It was a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the BVI during (a)

the year ended 31 March 2024.

(b) They were wholly owned subsidiaries in Hong Kong and (b)
Cambodia during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

26 BB LTXR 5

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholder and/ or
their close family members) or other entities and include entities
which are under the significant influence of related parties of
the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following parties/companies were related parties that had
transactions or balances with the Group during the year:

Name of related parties

fisd — 75 5 e 0 B % sk [ 5% Y AN SR B 9 B 75
REERRTHEERTEN  ZAEER
EAEEGRE - BT REA(IEE
EEAE FERRE IBREORKE
RE)REMER BRI ASEEARE
TEAFENER - MBERHNAIXHR
2 IR R RERE T

() ARRBERRUTEING RAEA
RAFERAEEER S LA
By

Relationship with the Group

RS B8

Mr. KS Chan
FRIB AR A&

Mr. WP Chan

Ms. Chan Chui Ying
PR 22 Z/)ME

Mr. Chan Chun Wai
R SRR ST A

(b) The following transactions were carried out with related
parties:

Save as disclosed in Note 9 of this report, the following
transactions were carried out with related parties:

Salaries and pension costs paid to:

BIREREA
Ms. Chan Chui Ying PR /N E
Mr. Chan Chun Wai PR 88 o A

SR Z 5% B Y A £

Controlling shareholder, director of the Group and Chairman
ERIRR  AEEEERERF

Controlling shareholder and director of the Group
ERERREAEEEE

Director of the Group*/Daughter of Mr. KS Chan & Ms. Tsang
rEBES REREEREL LT 2R

Son of Mr. WP Chan

BRoKFRAEZF

(b) PATXRZTERERTTHETT

BRI EMIEOPTIMEEE SN - ATR S
THERRREE T AT

As at 31 March
M3H31A
2025 2024

20245
HK$'000

20255
HK$’000
T T T T

FUA T &I E &

= 513
582 551

The transactions were conducted in the normal course of
business at prices and terms as agreed between the Group
and the related parties.

* Appointed on 5 February 2024

(c) Key management compensation
Key management includes the executive directors of
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is disclosed in Note 9.

RSN IEREBBIZPRAKE R
A7 2 19 TE BV BAR S (R PTETT

* JA2024F2 ASHEER T

(c) TEZEEBEMS
FTECEEQEAEBRRNITESE -
EBEREENSIENETEEEEZNS
WERHIFF9 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

27 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 27 REREBER
(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash used in (a) BrFEiAT(E51B) EFIRLENMARE
operations ) % AR
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2025 2024
20254 20245
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHEx T T
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense iR Al (k5i8) 5 F (53,242) 22,760
Adjustments for: BT &IBERE
Depreciation of plant and equipment BEMEETE 1,688 1,750
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 496 493
Finance income BRI (899) (2,287)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 254 114
Gain on disposal on plant and equipment  H &k E & 25 W (38) -
Impairment losses on trade receivables and 2 5 fE WK IE & & X & &=
contract assets KR EE 1B 33,573 625
Provision for long service payment RS BE 353 -

Operating (loss)/profit before changes in LEECEFALE (BB

working capital vl (17,815) 23,455
Changes in working capital: LEESEE
Increase in contract assets BREELN (22,735) (17,677)
Increase in trade and other receivables, B NEMEWRFRE

deposits and prepayments Z& R RIBE N (12,518) (22,307)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, BHREMNFIE ETER

accruals and other payables N E MR RIE O L)

#n (17,689) 14,231

Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERL (855) (580)
Net cash used in operations KEFTAIR SRR (71,612) (2,878)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

27 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) 27 REREBEH @

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to (b) BRBEAT (B5E) EFEREE
cash used in financing activities BMARESNHE
The table below details changes in the Group's TRAVIAREERERE S B E SR
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BEERE OEBSLIREEY-
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing METHELNEBRERIREL
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or RARREREBEAEBGZSHENE
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's EHOBERRMESTHEENRERE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows HEE :

from financing activities:

Liabilities from financing activities

MEETHMELENAE
Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total

EEN HEAE #et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

FEx FET FET

As at 1 April 2024 R2024F481H - 906 906

Cash flows HeER=E 8,563 (568) 7,995
Non-cash movements: FRESEH)

Interest expenses FERAX 222 32 254

As at 31 March 2025 F2025F3A31H 8,785 370 9,155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A B ISR AR A 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

27 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to
cash used in financing activities (continued)

27 BEREER m
(b) BRFiLAT (B51E) R FEBEE
BTAESHEER@®

Liabilities from financing activities

BMEFBFEENAR
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
B HEBE w5

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

F&EIT FHET FET

As at 1 April 2023 R2023F481H 5,634 353 5,987

Cash flows BeERE (5,736) (451) (6,187)
Non-cash movements: FRESEH)

Addition nE - 992 992

Interest expenses FERAX 102 12 114

As at 31 March 2024 R2024%F3A31H - 906 906

28 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will
be able to continue as a going while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged during
the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities, disclosed in
notes 21 and 23, respectively, net of cash and bank balances
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends or new share issues as well as redemption
of existing debts.

28 EXEMRER
REEGIRHLER - DR A B AL
& RS BELCERERANFEE -
BIRRERE AR - NEEMELERE
O R M o

AEENENEBERESFE (BRRT
EREHEERE - 2 RIRH 21 R23FT
)RR E MIRTTHEE - ARARBEA A
fElhHEm (BIEE BT M) -

ARREE TR EAGE - ERRE
M—#n  EFEEREAKAREAZE
BEXARBENRERE - NEEERIRERE
SBITHBRALBRBEBEEBAFEEE
BERGERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

29 €T A
() T EER
RERERFK  SER ST AR
EEERTIT -

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T T
Financial assets at amortised cost: REBERETTENSREE
Trade receivables =Y e e 83,759 76,038
Deposits and other receivables e R H b fE U FIE 4,906 4,672

JE U B B AR R R R ROR

Amount due from immediate holding

company 150 97
Short-term deposit RHFR - 50,000
Cash and bank balances R e RIRITHEH 18,762 31,871

107,577 162,678

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: RE R AT ENSREME:

Bank borrowings HRITIE X 8,785 -
Trade payables 2 5N IE 20,487 33,230
Other payables H fth fE A FRIE 14,321 18,720

43,593 51,950

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cREMREEEERBE
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company, short-term deposit,
cash and bank balances, bank borrowings, trade payables
and other payables. Details of these financial instruments

are disclosed in the respective notes.

AEENIZSHTABKRESRK
A e REMEREOR - BERE
BRERQRNE BEHEX - RBeRk
RITHERR - SRITHEF - B H RN IR
AREMENFRIE - ZF2 R T AR
FIENAERM AR -

The risks associated with these financial instruments HZEeRm T EAENRBEEEE
include credit risk, market risk (interest rate risk) and R - mimRR (FIRREE) RRE)E
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are [BLBg o A B a0 a] PR % 5 R B 1O TR 3R

set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

BATX - FEREERESRSA
ﬁﬁ ’ Dxﬁ{%ﬁgﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi‘m?%ﬁx@%*g
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S B RRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3H31H 1 FZ

i

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e« 2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade receivables, contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, amount due from immediate holding
company and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

Amount due from immediate holding
company and deposits and other
receivables

The Group assessed the loss allowance for amount
due from immediate holding company, deposits
and other receivables on 12-month ECL basis. In
determining the ECL, the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information as appropriate. There
had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments and concluded that credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding balances is insignificant.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

29 €@ T Hm
(b) €RtEMEE B ERBEE @

() EEEEEREEFE

EERBREASENRZZHTF R
BITHEANECMEHAREE
MR R RR $EIWF
fﬂ 2 T R2REE S REWHR
BREE- &ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁ%m
E FEU B AR A A RIFRIA A o
RITHEER © $%lIﬁHEEﬁ
Hima Rt EERRER -
BMERESREERBNEER

o
PR

o

FBEWREEZER A S EUARE
EREMENNE

AEFZ12EAAEHREERBE
AR M E B IR A B IE A
NIz & I B A FE IR IR R BB
- NETHEBEEHER &
SEREEZERBTENESRNL
ATREVEE R - B HERRLAK -
EERRIEREIEN - AEH
EZEENREENELENE
DEHERE  UTREAEEAR
EBEEAHBENEERRITTE
* o

RITH B

MR ZHFHHEREREE
BB L TREEFHROIRT
At |ROTEHRWEERRE
fR e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z22025F3A31H I FJZ

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment

29 €@ T Hum
(b) €RtEMEE B EZERBE @

() EEEEER#EFEG &)

(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise credit risk, the management
of the Group is responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures over the customers to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover the overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate allowance
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade balances individually or based
on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit
risk exposed to concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables and contract assets from the Group's
five largest customers amounting to approximately
HK$148,532,000 (2024: HK$182,454,000) and
accounted for approximately 45% (2024: 62%)
of the total trade receivables and contract assets
balance. The major customers of the Group are
reputable organisations and with good repayment
history. Management considers that the credit risk is
limited in this regard.

BEF SR FELNE 5 BR
HUREHEE
REEREEERR  AKEE
EEAEETEERE 5
HEHEFHEMERERF -
R BE BR B R E 17 B DA Wx (3 280 B
B8 ° eoh - AEBNERE R
R et & B & B & A W E 5
B DAREOR AT R] UL [ ) SRR VR
HFE R B o thsh  AEREHE
7 RE R BB SR IR B R
THEMEEEREAE THRE
AHE e BN S - ARREER
& ARENEERRD KER
1 -

AEEEHKRERAEBRARER
MNESREURREBERENEES
FH49148,532,00078 7T (20244 :
182,454,000 70) R AR LB &
SEWNFERENEERTY

45% (20245 - 62% ) HIIEE S

TRk AREXIREFPRAR
BHORE  AARTERES -
BEERA/ULTENERERRE
BR °
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
has applied the simplified approach under HKFRS 9
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group enhanced
its ECL for trade receivable and contract assets by
categorizing the customers by internal credit risks
bands rather than past due aging. The change in
estimates will be presented prospectively. Except for
debtors with significant balance and credit-impaired,
the Group determined ECL on these items by using
a provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating
(2024: Past due basis), and the ratings are outlined as
follows:

— Low risk Customers with good credit
standing

— Medium risk  Customers with normal credit
standing

— High risk Credit-impaired customers

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets which are assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024 within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of approximately
HK$5,708,000 (2024: HK$Nil) as at 31 March 2025
were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

29 £@ I B
(b) 2RIEAMEEBZERBE @)

REAE

Average
expected Trade
loss rate receivables
THEE EIZEK
BEE M

R20255

As at 31 March 2025 38318 %  HK$'000
TER
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BE
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lowance Net carrying amount

SREFE

Contract Trade  Contract
assets receivables asets
&8 EZENR e
BE ;E EE

HK$'000  HK$'000

HK$'000
Bn  TER  TER

Low risk {EEB 119 37,468 198,845 (438)  (19,977) 37,030 178,867
Medium risk FRER 5.72 51,900 33,253 (5171)  (3.723) 46,729 29,530
89,368 232,098 (5609  (23,700) 83,759 208,398
High risk LS 100 - 5,708 - (5,708) - -
89,368 237,806 (5609  (29,408) 83,759 208,398
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 €@ T Hum

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising

from contracts with customers (continued)
As at 31 March 2024

Average
expected
Trade receivables g 5 EWRE loss rate

T TR
ia
%

(b) 2RIEAMEEEZERBE @)

(i) 1EEE R 6 EFE &)

EFEAHTELNE S BEK
HUREHEE (#)
720243 H31H

Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
amount allowance amount

SREAE EBERE REFE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET TR

Current BNER 0.30 34,372 (116) 34,256
Past due within 30 days 30X A1 HA 0.70 34,415 (247) 34,168
Past due 31 to 60 days 31Z 60K A1 3 2.90 4,732 (138) 4,594
Over 60 days HBiB60K 11.20 3,400 (380) 3,020

76,919 (881) 76,038

Average
expected
loss rate

FHEY
B E
%

Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
amount allowance amount

HAE EREE REFE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Contract assets EHEE 0.30

T T T8

215,071 (563) 214,508

The expected loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without due costs
or efforts. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The Group recognised loss allowances of
HK$4,728,000 (2024: HK$611,000) on trade
receivables and recognised loss allowances of
HK$23,137,000 (2024: HK$14,000) on contract
assets, respectively during the year.

BEHEREDRENERSAER
MIEFHEFHARMBERREOE
fErSh - W BANHIBZK
K25 ) BN ] FE S B A RE 1 B Y
ELRE - ZoHEAEREEH
BE - UHREEERS ARHERE
BSRIES -

FR - -AEBEREZERK
BERAHWEEDBIEREIR
B 154,728,000 7T (20244 -
611,000 ) R HERE B &
523,137,000/ 7T (20244 :
14,0007 70) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 e T HEm
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) eREMREEEZEREE @
policies (continued)
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EEmE R B E S (&)
(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
and contract assets under the simplified approach
during the year.

EESHTELNE S ENR
HUREGHEE (#)
TRERNFEARBRES(E A AR
BIREBFIBREHNEERRTN
2HIFEHEEEIBEE -

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
2HEREERE 2HENEEFS
(EREREERE) (HREERE)
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets  receivables assets Total
EaEW EaEW
B GNEE RE  GNEE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL
1 April 2023 2023F4A18 270 549 - - 819
Loss allowances recognised BRREREH
611 14 - - 625
At 31 March 2024 and R202453 318 k20245
1 April 2024 4A1R 881 563 - - 1,444
Loss allowances recognised BEREERE 5,022 23,464 = 5,708 34,194
Loss allowances reversed BEDEERE (294) (327) = = (621)
At 31 March 2025 #202563A318 5,609 23,700 - 5,708 35,017

The Group writes off a trade receivable or a contract
asset when there is information indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs earlier.
During the year, none of the trade receivables and
contract assets had been written off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 B I R R M 5T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 €T R m
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) eREREEEZEREE @
policies (continued)
(i) Market risk (i) H5ERE
Interest rate risk FI 3 |71 B
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from AEBNF KRR ZRERTT
bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates B o LUFENF EBEITHVRITE

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s
interest rate profile as monitored by management is
set out in below.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting

REAREEERRSRENEE
RN HENXRER - BEEE
727 5 [ B A RGO B RO e

T E
TRANAEENHEHRNE
R EAR R o

period.
2025 2024
2025 20245
Effective Effective
Interest rate Carrying Interest rate Carrying
per annum amount  perannum amount
BRERE REE BERFHN= RAER
% HK$'000 ) HK$'000
TR TR
Variable rate borrowings/(deposits): FBFEER (FH):

Bank borrowings BER 493 8,785 - -
Short-term bank deposit RERTER - - 436 (50,000)
Bank balances RITEER 0.00-0.30 (18,762)  0.00-0.50 (31,871)
Total net deposits RRNAE (9,977) (81,871)

At 31 March 2025, if interest rates had been 50
basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss (2024: profit) for
the year then ended would have been approximately
HK$42,000 (2023: HK$342,000) lower/higher (2024:
higher/lower), mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest income on cash at banks.

M202593A31H » ifi F| & 7+
/ NHAS0ME &S, - mpTA E i
Buis g AAREBEZ=ZA
IFFEMBRTE%ZES (20245 -
) 88 TR EF (20245 1 |
Ft/ T B&) #942,0007 7T (2024
F 1 342,000 7C) 0 HEBHK
BITRESMFBWA EFTE
FTEK °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025¢3431H IF F/&E

29 £@ I B
(b) 2RIEAMEEBZERBE @)

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) 7 & 14 /2 B

200

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors
believe that the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its future operational requirement.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted
average
interest rate

g
FHF=

EIR B MR R I - AR B
VHFHEREER DR ABRMNASE
B2 EMHREMRERSREND
FENRE RS EFEYKRF -
EXZRR AEESARNEE
BT ABHERREEFTFK -

TRALAEENFTESHEA
BERE KBTS - ZRREAR
SEAREFRERLNFNEE BH
BEeRAENARMRARSRER
B RREENERASRENR

=
E-°

Total

contractual ~ Within one

Carrying undiscounted  year or on
amount  cash flows demand
EHRER —ER5E

REE BEeRE4E REX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

31 March 2025 2025%3A318

Bank borrowings RITER 493 8,785 8,785 8,785
Trade payables BoRAFE - 20,487 20,487 20,487
Other payables EfEMFR - 14,321 14,321 14,321
Lease liabilities HERR 43 370 374 374

43,963 43,967 43,967
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29 €@ T Hm
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) eREMREEEERBE@®
policies (continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) (iii) B MR (')

Total
Weighted contractual ~ Within one
average Carrying undiscounted  year or on Over
interest rate amount  cash flows demand 1year

mE¥H CLES: T A
ME BEE RERELR ERR  BB-F
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TAT TR

31 March 2024 2024437318
Trade payables BoRMATE - 33,230 33,230 33,230 -
Other payables EthEfFE - 18,720 18,720 18,720 -
Lease liabilities REAR 43 906 936 562 374
52,856 52,886 52,512 374
(iv) Fair value risk (iv) 2-F1E Rk
The directors considered that the carrying amounts EERA - BEHEARIERENS
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at MEERSHAGBNRMERK
amortised cost approximate their fair values at the REREHRNO A FERE °

end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B IS SRR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z22025F3H31H 1 F/Z

30 AR B MR T

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FTAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RBIRE 101,982 101,982
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments  E {ih i Y TR T8 2 78 1~ 3018 - 245
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUB B A B 5k IE 81,202 26,271
Short-term bank deposit RHIRITIE N — 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIESHEY 9,922 20,865
e 91,124 97,381
Total assets EEHE 193,106 199,363
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of RAFRHAE ANEGER
the Company
Share capital B& K 10,000 10,000
Capital reserve (Note) B ARG (M) 101,592 101,592
Share premium (Note) % 5 18 (B 7E) 105,356 105,356
Accumulated losses (Note) 2t E18 (M) (24,215) (23,163)
Totalequity ~ ~~~~  #=#® 0000000 192733 193,785
LIABILITIES a&
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals ezt & B = 74
Amount due to a subsidiary FER—EW B A FIE 373 5,504
Total liabilitess ~~~~~ &f®® 373 5578
Total equity and liabilities ERRABEH 193,106 199,363

The statement of financial position of the Company was

BEEC 202596 258 #ERA AT

approved by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2025 and was MRz AN TEERERES -

signed on its behalf.

Chan Kiu Sum Chan Wing Ping
PR 48 % PR K ¥
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # F2025F3431H IF F/&E

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30 A& A& RE @

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

The reserves movement of the Company is as follows:

MAE -

AREWFELHMT

Capital Share Accumulated
reserve premium losses Total
EXRE R aE RitEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TAT FAET
(Note)
(P %E)
Balance at 1 April 2023 7M2023F4 A1 B &8 101,592 105,356 (23,200) 183,748
Loss for the year FENEE - - 37 37
Balance at 31 March 2024 and M202463H318 &
1 April 2024 2024FAR 1B 101,592 105,356 (23,163) 183,785
Loss for the year FREE - - (1,052) (1,052)
Balance at 31 March 2025 1R2025F3 31 B H) 48R 101,592 105,356 (24,215) 182,733

Note: The capital reserve of the Group represented combined share
capital of the companies now comprising the Group upon the
completion of the reorganisation.

MiaE AEENEARFHEENEAETKEIR
HRAEENZHRARMNE IR -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
B EHESIR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the TXR&HFIFEIRAAEBHC TIEMEHREROR
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published A BFEENEEREERBHE - XFEL
financial statements, is set out as below. This summary does not form ~ TEK R BZIMEIHRER Z —HH ©

part of the audited financial statements.

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244 20235 20224 201€

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT TET THT TET T

Revenue WA 530,567 585,170 541,648 456,432 440,369
Cost of services RIS A (528,535) (543,327 (476,127) (398,744) (386,447)
Gross profit EY| 2,122 41,843 65,521 57,688 53,922
Other income and gain =R o) PN € 83 102 18,743 592 19,628
Administrative expenses TR (22,519) (20,733) (20,605) (12,087) (11,197)
Listing expenses il 53 - - (6,951) (7,642) (8,538)

(Impairment losses)/reversal B ZEWHER AL EE
of impairment loss on trade ~ (REEE) /RIEEE

receivables and contract o)

assets (33,573) (625) (439) 360 (216)
Operating (loss)/profit &g (BB BH (53,887) 20,587 56,269 38,911 53,599
Finance income/(costs), net  BAFEURA /(B AX) 348 645 2,173 466 (139) (809)
(Loss)/profit before income  BRFi 5% B < Al

tax expense (B18) /%7 (53,242) 22,760 56,735 38,772 52,790
Income tax expense FrEHAS (229) (3,691) (7,407) (7,478) (6,751)

(Loss)/profit and total ARAREAREEE
comprehensive (expense)/  (B518) /HFRZE
income for the year (M%) MABE
attributable to owners of
the Company (53,471) 19,069 49,328 31,294 46,039

As at 31 March
R=A=+-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 PAA

20255 20245 20235 20226 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAL THBT T T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ERARE

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,724 4,819 3,441 2,695 1,986
Current assets MEEE 318,336 379,769 354,886 196,477 185,263
Total assets LEHAE 321,060 384,588 358,327 199,172 187,249
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 201 636 320 527 176
Current liabilities REaE 48,511 58,083 51,257 56,189 75,911
Total liabilities B4R 48,712 58,769 51,577 56,716 76,087
Total equity e 272,348 325,819 306,750 142,456 111,162
Total liabilities and equity BEREZAE 321,060 384,588 358,327 199,172 187,249
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